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V1 Group Limited, the “Company” or “V1 
Group”, together with its subsidiaries (“the 

Group”) is one of the largest new media 
enterprises in China

which is principally engaged in the development of the tele-

media, including internet audio-visual new media, online games, 

online trading platform and other internet plus businesses.

http://www.v1.cn http://ir.v1group.com.hk
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Dear shareholders,

“ROLL UP OUR SLEEVES TO WORK HARDER!”

How to repeat remarkable success experienced in CMGE?

I have this question hanging over my head for long.

With the rapid development of the internet market and the general trend of “Nationwide Entrepreneurship and Innovation”（大

眾創業，萬眾創新）, we have actively carried out a diversified layout based on “Internet Plus” after the successful disposal 

of CMGE, in order to seek for new breakthroughs and repeat remarkable success experience in CMGE. I am glad to inform 

that, after three years’ endeavor and with the rapid market development and strong high-tech development in China, we have 

finally found out the breakthrough point, namely “digital + new culture and entertainment”.

New culture and entertainment means “new media”, “new culture” and “new sports”.
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Driven by the ever-changing digital technology, focusing on the trillion-dollar cultural, sports and game markets and utilizing 

its unique resource advantage, deepening the development in the new culture and entertainment sector will be the future 

development direction of V1 Group. In order to devote more talents, funds and resources to this sector, in 2017, we 

strengthened the infrastructure of “one TV station, one website and three applications” and established CATV China News 

Center with the great support of the Chinese government, thereby launching a global publicity and content collection network 

based on the Belt and Road initiative. Meanwhile, artificial intelligence technology was integrated in the V1 Portal, V1.CN 

application and its financial video application “Tower”（投將）, which enabled the effective operation of new media business 

models, i.e. “joint operations of website and TV station” and “joint operations of website and applications”. Contents and 

traffic, the key resources of the internet industry, are gathering and turning into income stream. With the support of media 

influence, V1 Group’s online trading platform business has realized rapid and sound development and become a highlight in 

the new culture and entertainment business.

In order to facilitate the rapid development of the new culture and entertainment business especially in new sports sector and 

help itself out of the “growth headache” of large preliminary investment, high cost and long profit-making cycle arising from 

self-development of products, V1 Group decided to merge the sports game business, invest in and acquire leading enterprises 

in sports and anime comic industries to rapidly form a powerful new culture business cluster, so as to enhance the industrial 

influence of V1 Group and make the five-trillion-dollar huge sports market a solid support for extensive development and 

profit-making of V1 Group.

In February 2018, V1 Group officially launched its cloud platform, and established cloud computing big data center jointly 

with Huawei Group. With the support of and driven by the high-tech artificial intelligence technology of V1 Group Research 

Institute, data sharing will be realized among new media, new culture and new sports business clusters; in-depth data mining, 

data business support system and digital+ will become the momentum for development of V1 Group.

To all shareholders: for a long period of time in future, people in China and even the world will have increasingly strong 

demand for cultural, sports and video information products, which will foster a huge emerging market supported by high 

technology. We are very excited that, after two to three years’ efforts, V1 Group finally found and established its presence in 

this emerging market, and we are confident that V1 Group will repeat the success in building up CMGE!

In future, video, sport, game and finance will be the keys to V1 Group’s development.

I hereby extend our sincere gratitude to all our shareholders for their understanding and support on behalf of the 

management of V1 Group!

In order to realize our vision, let’s roll up our sleeves and work harder!

Zhang Lijun

Chairman
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) herein present their report together with the corporate governance report, 

environmental, social and governance report, share option schemes, management discussion and analysis, and the audited 

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in the development of the tele-media including internet audio-visual new 

media, online games, online trading platform and other internet plus businesses in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). 

The principal activities and other particulars of certain operational subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial 

statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future developments 

in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 47 to 57 of this Annual 

Report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income on page 62.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 

2017.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 

from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 140. This summary is for information only and does not form part of 

the audited financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial 

statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year, together with explanations thereof, 

are set out in notes 23 and 29 respectively to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during 

the year ended 31 December 2017.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 26 and page 64 to the 

financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company did not have any distributable reserves (2016: Nil). The Company’s share premium 

account in the amount of HK1,488,282,000 (2016: HK$1,488,282,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus 

shares.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the respective percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales attributable to major suppliers and 

customers are as follows:

(a) Percentage of purchases attributable to:

• the largest supplier 36.98%

• the five largest suppliers 81.84%

(b) Percentage of sales attributable to:

• the largest customer 30.55%

• the five largest customers 75.28%
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS (Continued)

The largest supplier and customer of the Group for the year was VODone Datamedia Technology Co., Ltd. (“TMD1”). TMD1, 

a sino-foreign joint-venture company. The Company indirectly owns 24.99% interest in TMD1 and 24.01% interest of TMD1 

is indirectly held by Dr. Zhang Lijun, an executive Director, a substantial shareholder and the chairman of the Company (the 

“Chairman”). Through contractual arrangements as disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 18 August 2006, the Group 

provides tele-media support services to TMD1. Save as disclosed in this annual report and as far as the Directors are aware, 

none of the Directors, their close associates, or substantial shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more 

than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

CHAIRMAN AND DIRECTORS

The Chairman and the Directors during the year and up to the date of this report have been:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Zhang Lijun (Chairman)

Wang Chun

Ji Qiang (appointed on 24 March 2017)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Gong Zhankui

Wang Linan

In accordance with the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their 

number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 

provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. Dr. Zhang Lijun and Mr. Wang Linan 

will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for 

re-election.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence 

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Listing Rules”) and the Board considers them to be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chairman

Dr. ZHANG Lijun, aged 54, holds a Doctoral degree in Economics and currently being a 

Research Fellow at Stanford University. He is an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board 

and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”). 

He joined the Group in 2006. Dr. Zhang is the chairman of the board of China Arab TV. He 

holds the position as director for other members of the Group. Dr. Zhang is also chairman of 

China Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (“APEC”) Development Council, vice chairman of the 

China Internet Association, council member of the Association for Relations Across the Taiwan 

Straits (ARATS), honorary president of the Council of Beijing Association of Online Media, 

standing member of China Copyright Council, professor of Nankai University, honorary professor 

of the University of Sydney, Australia, and an experienced expert in China’s internet media.

Dr. Zhang previously held the following positions: China’s representative of the APEC Business 

Advisory Council, assistant to the general manager and deputy general manager of International 

Industrial Company of the China Minmetals Corporation, which was a company under the 

Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation, the People’s Republic of China, and 

the deputy manager of the General Trade Department of the China Minmetals Corporation, 

chairman of the board of directors of China Mobile Games and Entertainment Group 

Limited, chairman and party secretary of Sino-Interest Worldwide Economic Group under the 

Commission for Restructuring the Economic System and Economic Restructuring Office of the 

State Council, and chairman of Sino-Sky Telecom, etc. He is the spouse of Ms. Wang Chun.

Ms. Wang Chun, aged 53, holds a Master degree in World Economics and is an executive 

Director and the chief operating officer of the Company. Ms. Wang has been the chief operating 

officer of the Company since 2005. Ms. Wang is also the vice president of the Council of Beijing 

Association of Online Media, member of the Central Women’s Work Committee of the Central 

Committee of China Zhi Gong Party, and an experienced expert in internet trade.

In 1996, Ms. Wang spent a long time in the United States and Canada for the business of Sino-

Canada International Investment (Group) Company Limited, for which she served as a director 

and deputy general manager as well as the chief representative of its Beijing office. In 1998, Ms. 

Wang returned to China and set up China Huatian Net Supermarket, the first cyber supermarket 

in China and originator of China’s B2B and B2C e-business. She later joined Sino-Sky Telecom 

and was responsible for the management of one of the largest telecommunication value-added 

business service platforms in China. She was appointed the chief operating officer of Sino-Sky 

Telecom later. She is the spouse of Dr. Zhang Lijun.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP (Continued)

Mr. Ji Qiang, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director in March 2017. He has over 13 

years of experience in financial management. He is currently the general manager of finance 

of the Group. Mr. Ji joined the Group as finance manager in 2010 and promoted to deputy 

general manager of finance of the Group in 2013. Prior to joining the Group, he was the 

financial controller of Beijing office of China Strategic Holdings Limited (stock code: 235). Mr. 

Ji holds a Master degree in Management (major in Accounting) of Renmin University of China 

and a Bachelor of Science degree in Electronics Engineering and Computer Science of Peking 

University. Mr. Ji is a certified public accountant (non-practising) in the People’s Republic of 

China and also holds the Securities Qualification Certificate (level 2) of Securities Association of 

China.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LOKE Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director in May 2005. He is also the chairman of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) 

and the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company. He has over 

40 years of experience in accounting and auditing for private and public companies, financial 

consultancy and corporate management. He holds a Master of Business Administration 

degree from Universiti Teknologi Malaysia and a Doctor of Business Administration degree 

from University of South Australia. Dr. Loke is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 

The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. 

Currently, he serves as an independent non-executive director of Chiho Environmental Group 

Limited (formerly known as Chiho-Tiande Group Limited), China Beidahuang Industry Group 

Holdings Limited, China Fire Safety Enterprise Group Limited, China Household Holdings 

Limited, Forebase International Holdings Limited, Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding 

Company Limited, Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited, Lamtex Holdings Limited, 

Matrix Holdings Limited, SCUD Group Limited, Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, Tianjin 

Development Holdings Limited, Winfair Investment Company Limited, Zhenro Properties Group 

Limited and Zhong An Real Estate Limited, companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP (Continued)

Prof. Gong Zhankui, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 

in November 2014. He is also the chairman of the corporate governance committee (the 

“Corporate Governance Committee”) of the Company. Prof. Gong holds a Master degree of 

Economics from Wuhan University and a Doctoral degree of Economics from Nankai University. 

He is now a professor of Nankai University. Prof. Gong served as the executive vice-president 

of the Research Institute of China APEC, director of APEC Study Center of Nankai University, 

professor of Jilin University, vice-president of Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies, council member 

of China Society of World Economics and China National Committee for Pacific Economic 

Cooperation, World Economy Expert conferred by Tianjin Municipality, correspondence expert 

reviewer of National Social Science Projects, expert reviewer of China Scholarship Council and 

China International Trade Achievements, editorial board member of Asia-Pacific Economic 

Review, Journal of Contemporary Asia-Pacific Studies and Nankai Journal.

Mr. Wang Linan, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in August 

2007. Mr. Wang graduated from the Faculty of Economic Management of the Party School of 

the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China. Prior to retirement, he was also the 

general secretary of the China Scientific Films and Videos Association, which was a civil service 

employment. Mr. Wang has more than 20 years of experiences in promotion of science in 

China. He had worked as deputy division secretary in the China Association for Science and 

Technology General Office, deputy director of the Department of Science Popularisation City 

Division of China Association for Science and Technology, and the vice general secretary of the 

China Scientific Popularisation Writers Association.



 

V1 GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 201712

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Xiang, aged 43. She undertakes and performs the role of the chief financial officer of the Company with the 

financial controller of the Company, Mr. Leung Wai Tong. Ms. Wang is a Certified Public Accountant in the People’s Republic 

of China. Before joining the Group, she served a foreign mobile technology company for more than 5 years as a finance 

in-charge where she accumulated extensive corporate finance and management knowledge in telecommunication and 

value added service industry. Besides, having taken part in several major audits in her role as an external auditor, she has 

accumulated invaluable experiences which have made her an all-rounded accountant. Ms. Wang holds a Bachelor degree in 

Business Management of Beijing Normal University. She joined the Group in 2006.

Mr. Leung Wai Tong, aged 36, is the financial controller and company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). 

He also undertakes and performs the role of the chief financial officer of the Company with Ms. Wang Xiang. He holds 

a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Master degree of Laws in 

International Economic Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in 

Hong Kong and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is also an associate member of the 

Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has over 13 

years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial management. Before he joined the Company, he was the financial 

controller of China Mobile Games and Entertainment Group Limited, a former subsidiary of the Company, from 2011 to 2013.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION WITH REGARDS TO DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the biographical details of the Directors during the course of 

the Director’s term of office since the publication of Company’s 2017 Interim Report are set out as follows:

Under the amendment to the service agreement with Dr. Zhang Lijun, an executive Director, with effect from 1 February 

2018, the director’s fee and remuneration of Dr. Zhang Lijun has been increased to HK$12,634,180 per annum as 

recommended by the Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board with reference to his duties and responsibilities 

with the Company and the market rate for the position.

Under the amendment to the service agreement with Ms. Wang Chun, an executive Director, with effect from 1 February 

2018, the director’s fee and remuneration of Ms. Wang Chun has been increased to HK$5,474,950 per annum as 

recommended by the Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board with reference to her duties and responsibilities 

with the Company and the market rate for the position.

Under the amendment to the service agreement with Mr. Ji Qiang, an executive Director, with effect from 1 February 2018, 

the director’s fee and remuneration of Mr. Ji Qiang has been increased to HK$134,550 per annum as recommended by the 

Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company 

and the market rate for the position.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION WITH REGARDS TO DIRECTORS (Continued) 

Under the amendment to the service agreement with Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), an independent non-executive 

Director, with effect from 1 February 2018, the director’s fee of Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) has been increased to 

HK$359,320 per annum as recommended by the Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board with reference to 

his duties and responsibilities with the Company and the market rate for the position.

Under the amendment to the respective service agreement with Prof. Gong Zhankui and Mr. Wang Linan, independent non-

executive Directors, with effect from 1 February 2018, the director’s fee of each of Prof. Gong Zhankui and Mr. Wang Linan 

has been increased to HK$303,160 per annum as recommended by the Remuneration Committee and determined by the 

Board by reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company and the market rate for the position.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any 

service contract, which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of 

compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors and their associates had the following interests in the shares and underlying shares of 

the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), 

as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(A) LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE 
COMPANY:

Name of director Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

% of 
total issued 

share capital

Number of 
underlying shares 

in respect of 
share options 

granted

% of 
total issued 

share capital

Zhang Lijun Beneficial owner/ 
Interest of spouse/
Founder of discretionary 
trust

371,214,113 
(Note 1)

11.26% 12,700,000 
(Note 2)

0.38%

Wang Chun Beneficial owner/ 
Interest of spouse/
Founder of discretionary 
trust

371,214,113 
(Note 3)

11.26% 12,700,000 
(Note 4)

0.38%

Ji Qiang Beneficial owner – – 1,000,000 0.03%

Loke Yu 
(alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Beneficial owner – – 2,700,000 0.08%

Gong Zhankui Beneficial owner – – 2,700,000 0.08%

Wang Linan Beneficial owner 1,400,000 0.04% 2,700,000 0.08%

Note 1: As at 31 December 2017, Dr. Zhang Lijun (“Dr. Zhang”) held and was deemed to hold under the SFO in aggregate 

371,214,113 Shares, representing approximately 11.26% of the Company’s issued share capital. These 371,214,113 Shares 

comprised: (i) 40,514,113 Shares directly held by Dr. Zhang; (ii) deemed interest of 9,350,000 Shares directly held by Ms. 

Wang Chun (“Ms. Wang”), the spouse of Dr. Zhang; and (iii) deemed interest of 321,350,000 Shares held by Big Step Group 

Limited. Big Step Group Limited is a company wholly-owned by J&C Dragon Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by UBS 

Trustees (BVI) Limited. UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited is acting in the capacity as the trustee of a discretionary family trust 

established by Dr. Zhang and Ms. Wang as settlors, and the discretionary beneficiaries of the trust include Dr. Zhang, Ms. 

Wang and their family members.

Note 2: Of these 12,700,000 share options, 5,000,000 share options are directly held by Dr. Zhang. Dr. Zhang is also deemed to be 

interested in the remaining 7,700,000 share options through the interest of his spouse, Ms. Wang.

Note 3: As at 31 December 2017, Ms. Wang held and was deemed to hold under the SFO in aggregate 371,214,113 Shares, 

representing approximately 11.26% of the Company’s issued share capital. These 371,214,113 Shares comprised: (i) 

9,350,000 Shares directly held by Ms. Wang; (ii) deemed interest of 40,514,113 Shares directly held by Dr. Zhang, the 

spouse of Ms. Wang; and (iii) deemed interest of 321,350,000 Shares held by Big Step Group Limited. Big Step Group 

Limited is a company wholly-owned by J&C Dragon Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited. 

UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited is acting in the capacity as the trustee of a discretionary family trust established by Ms. Wang 

and Dr. Zhang as settlors, and the discretionary beneficiaries of the trust include Ms. Wang, Dr. Zhang and their family 

members.

Note 4: Of these 12,700,000 share options, 7,700,000 share options are directly held by Ms. Wang. Ms. Wang is also deemed to be 

interested in the remaining 5,000,000 share options through the interest of her spouse, Dr. Zhang.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(B) LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS:

Name of director Name of associated corporation Capacity

Number of 
ordinary shares 

held

% of 
total issued 

share capital

Zhang Lijun Clear Concept International Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 98 49%
VODone Holdings Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 2 100%
VODone Datamedia Technology Co. Ltd. (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 49,000,000 49%
Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited (Note 6) Interest of controlled corporation of spouse 8,800,000 5.39%

Wang Chun Clear Concept International Limited (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation of spouse 98 49%
VODone Holdings Limited (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation of spouse 2 100%
VODone Datamedia Technology Co. Ltd. (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation of spouse 49,000,000 49%
Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited (Note 5) Interest of controlled corporation 8,800,000 5.39%

Note 1: Clear Concept International Limited (“Clear Concept”) is owned as to 51% by the Company and 49% by Bigland Limited, a 

company wholly-owned by Dr. Zhang. Dr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in Bigland Limited’s 49% in Clear Concept under 

the SFO.

Note 2: VODone Holdings Limited (formerly known as Bentex (Hong Kong) Limited) (“VODone Holdings”) is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Clear Concept. Dr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in 100% of VODone Holdings under the SFO by virtue of 

his deemed interest in Clear Concept.

Note 3: VODone Datamedia Technology Co. Ltd. (“TMD1”) is owned as to 49% by VODone Holdings. Dr. Zhang is deemed to be 

interested in TMD1 under the SFO by virtue of his deemed interest in VODone Holdings.

Note 4: Ms. Wang is deemed to be interested in Clear Concept, VODone Holdings and TMD1 through Dr. Zhang’s deemed interest in 

the three companies.

Note 5: Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited (“BOA”) is owned as to 37.53% by the Company and 5.39% by Oasis Sun Investment Limited 

(“Oasis Sun”), a company wholly-owned by Ms. Wang. Ms. Wang is deemed to be interested in Oasis Sun’s 5.39% in BOA 

under the SFO.

Note 6: Dr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in BOA through Ms. Wang’s deemed interest in BOA.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company and their 

associates had any interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of 

the SFO; or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Same as disclosed in the section above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 

of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of 

age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow 

subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Except for those transactions set out in note 31 to the financial statements, no Director had a beneficial interest in any 

material contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 

during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2017, other than the Directors whose interests are disclosed above, the Company was not aware of any 

person who had any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required 

to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had certain related party transactions, further details of which are included in note 25 and note 31 

to the financial statements. The Directors believe the relevant disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules are met, where 

applicable.

The related party transactions referred to in note 25 and note 31 (a), (c), (d) and (e) to the financial statements do not fall 

under the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected transactions (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A 

of the Listing Rules.

The share purchase transactions with VODONE referred to in note 25 to the financial statements constituted connected 

transactions for the company but are fully exempt under Rule 14A.76.

The related party transactions referred to in note 31 (b) to the financial statements constituted connected transactions for the 

company but are fully exempt under Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

1. PARTICULARS OF STRUCTURED CONTRACTS AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS OF TMD1 
AND TMD SERVICE COMPANIES

The Group acquired its tele-media business in 2006 through acquisition of 51% interest (the “2006 Acquisition”) 

in Clear Concept International Limited (“Clear Concept”) by the Company. Clear Concept is an investment holding 

company holding 100% interest in VODone Holdings Limited (formerly known as Bentex (Hong Kong) Limited 

(“VODone Holdings”) which in turn holds 49% interest in Vodone Datamedia Technology Co., Ltd. (“TMD1”). 

TMD1 had entered into an exclusive business support and content services agreement (“Master Agreement”) with 

Vodone Telemedia Co., Ltd. (“VODONE”) pursuant to which TMD1 as the exclusive service provider shall directly 

or through its designated third parties provide comprehensive business support and contents services to VODONE. 

VODONE is licensed in the PRC to provide an audio/video transmission platform delivering a range of cross media 

telecommunications contents and valued added services, directly and indirectly, to its customers. Details of the 

principal licenses held by VODONE are set out on pages 10 to 11 in the major and connected transaction circular of 

the Company dated 18 August 2006 (the “2006 Circular”).

For TMD1 to effectively perform the full range of services under the Master Agreement, TMD1 had set up sub-

contracting arrangements with each of VODone Information Engineering Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Beijing Jinkaiman 

Tech Development Co., Ltd.) (“TMD2”), Beijing Adpeople International Advertising Co., Ltd. (formerly known as 

Beijing Haoshuang Advertising Management Co., Ltd.) (“TMD3”) and Beijing Union Times Entertainment Culture 

Development Co., Ltd. (“TMD4”, together with TMD2 and TMD3, the “TMD Service Companies”) to procure various 

technical or functionally specialized services (the “Service Agreements”). Details of the Service Agreements are 

disclosed on pages 14 to 15 of the 2006 Circular under the subsection headed “Scope of activities under the Service 

Agreements”. In brief, under the Service Agreements, TMD Service Companies had agreed to provide the essential 

technical, advertising, promotion, contents production and other services to support TMD1 and ultimately VODONE in 

its business development.

Set out below is a chart outlining simplified shareholding structure of the VODONE, TMD1 and the TMD Service 

Companies and the structured contract relationship under the Master Agreement and Service Agreement (collectively 

the “Structured Contracts”).
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

1. PARTICULARS OF STRUCTURED CONTRACTS AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS OF TMD1 
AND TMD SERVICE COMPANIES (Continued)

11.9%99%

46.3%

49% 51%

100%
46% 5%53.7%

49%

Beijing Zhongxin(1)

VODONE

Dr. Zhang

The Company

Clear Concept

VODOne Holdings

TMD1

Service 
Agreements

Master 
Agreement

exceeding
97%

TMD Service Companies

Beijing Lirui(2) Sino-Sky(3)

Notes:

(1) means Beijing Zhongxin Fortune Investment Management Co., Ltd.. Following the announcement of the policy of non-

participation in commercial activities in private sector by government related entities in the PRC, China Association of Social 

Workers and Sino-Sky Telecom Industry Group transferred their respective equity interests of 47.3% and 6.4% in VODONE to 

Beijing Zhongxin Fortune Co., Ltd. in December 2014 and November 2015, respectively.

(2) means Beijing Lirui Network Technology Co., Ltd.. Following the reason mentioned in (1), China Association of Social Workers 

transferred its 46% equity interests in TMD1 to Beijing Lirui Network Technology Co., Ltd. in December 2014.

(3) means Sino-Sky Telecom Industry Group. 

“–” denotes shareholding relationship

“...” denotes contractual relationship
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

1. PARTICULARS OF STRUCTURED CONTRACTS AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS OF TMD1 
AND TMD SERVICE COMPANIES (Continued)

Under the structure of the contractual arrangements for the Group’s tele-media business, the Group has no right 

to acquire the equity interest of VODONE which holds various licenses to operate tele-communication and internet 

services in the PRC, but could derive the economic benefits of the tele-media business through acquisition of interest 

in Clear Concept.

The Group’s tele-media business is operated under VODONE. Pursuant to the Master Agreement, TMD1 is entitled 

to contracting fees which equate to an amount of not less than 60% of the gross revenues from the tele-media value 

added services generated by VODONE (as recorded by VODONE in accordance with PRC accounting standards). 

And by virtue of the Service Agreement the TMD Service Companies generate their respective revenues by charging 

TMD1 on services they respectively provide at market determined prices. Effectively all the revenue generated and 

expenses incurred by VODONE in running the tele-media business have been passed on to TMD1 and eventually to 

the TMD Service Companies (i.e. the Group) through the Structured Contracts and accordingly reflected in the financial 

statements of the Group.

2. REVENUE AND ASSETS SUBJECT TO THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017 the revenue recorded by the Group arising from the Structured Contracts 

relating to the tele-media business amounted to HK$156,004,000. The assets of VODONE have never been 

consolidated into the financial statements of the Group under the Structured Contracts. The reportable segment assets 

of the tele-media business of the Group in note 6 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 

the Group represented the assets of the members of the Group including the TMD Service Companies.

3. THE EXTENT TO WHICH THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO 
REQUIREMENTS OTHER THAN THE FOREIGN OWNERSHIP RESTRICTION

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, requirements related to Structured Contracts (other than relevant 

foreign ownership restrictions) primarily concerns the legality, validity and binding effect of the Structured Contracts. 

The Structured Contracts as a whole and each of the agreements comprising the Structured Contracts are legal, 

valid and binding on parties thereto, and do not individually or collectively, constitute a breach of any PRC laws and 

regulations and will not be deemed invalid or ineffective under those laws and regulations; in particular, the Structured 

Contracts would not violate the provisions of the PRC Contract Law, including “concealing an illegitimate purpose under 

the guise of legitimate acts” under Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and 

other applicable PRC laws and regulations.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

4. REASONS FOR THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

Currently, the regulatory requirements of the internet information services in the PRC does not allow foreign ownership 

in VODONE which is the holder of certain business licenses which can only be held by PRC legal entities. Accordingly, 

the arrangements contemplated under Structure Contracts do not involve direct investment by the Company in 

VODONE.

The Company’s PRC legal adviser is of the opinion that the Structured Contracts are subject to the following risks:

(i) There is no assurance that the Structured Contracts will be deemed by the relevant PRC governmental and 

judicial authorities to be in compliance with existing PRC laws and regulations or that it will be in compliance 

with future PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Draft Foreign Investment Law. However, 

given that VODONE and TMD1 remain under the absolute control of PRC nationals, the structured contracts of 

the Group’s tele-media business will be considered as being “controlled” by “PRC investors” as defined under 

the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (Draft for Comment)（《中華人民共和國外國投資法（草案徵求意見

稿）》）and the Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law（《關於〈中華人民共和國外國投資法

（草案徵求意見稿）〉的說明》）circulated by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC (collectively, the “Draft 

Foreign Investment Law”), and be justified to become PRC law compliant even if the Draft Foreign Investment 

Law is enacted into law in its current form.

(ii) The Group depends upon the Structured Contracts with VODONE in conducting its tele-media business’s 

operations and receiving payments through VODONE, which may not be as effective in providing operational 

control as direct ownership over VODONE.

(iii) Dr. Zhang, who has an effective interest of 99.46% in VODONE, may have conflicts of interest with the Group, 

which may materially and adversely affect the tele-media business of the Group; and

(iv) The Structured Contracts may be subject to the scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be 

imposed.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

4. REASONS FOR THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (Continued)

The Group has adopted and/or will adopt the following measures to ensure legal and regulatory compliance and 

implementation of the Structured Contracts:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Structured Contracts or any regulatory 

enquiries from government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on 

an occurrence basis;

(ii) the Group has implemented corporate governance measures to manage any conflict of interest between the 

Group and Dr. Zhang or any of his associates. For instance, a Director shall declare the nature of his or her 

interest at the beginning of each and every meeting of the Board, and if he or she is to be regarded as having 

material interest in any matter being considered in a meeting, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be 

counted in the quorum;

(iii) the Group, when and where appropriate, will engage legal advisors and/or other professionals to assist the 

Group to deal with specific issues arising from the Structured Contracts and to ensure that the operation and 

implementation of the Structured Contracts as a whole will comply with all applicable laws and regulations;

(iv) relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group’s tele-media business will report regularly, which 

will be no less frequent than on a quarterly basis, to the senior management of the Company in relation to 

compliance and performance conditions under the Structured Contracts and other related matters;

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will monitor and review the effective implementation of the procedures, 

controls and compliance in relation to the Structured Contracts, and their confirmation will be disclosed in the 

annual report of the Company on an annual basis; and

(vi) the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the Structured Contracts in its annual 

reports to update the Shareholders and potential investors.

5. ANY MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS AND UNWINDING OF THE 
STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material change in the Structured Contracts and/or the 

circumstances under which they were adopted, and none of the Structured Contracts has been unwound as none of 

the restrictions that led to the adoption of Structured Contracts has been removed.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST 
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Group remunerates the Directors and its staff primarily based on their contributions, responsibilities, qualifications and 

experience under the remuneration policy set up by the Remuneration Committee. The Group has implemented share option 

schemes as incentive to the Directors and eligible employees.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, the senior management and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set 

out in notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have 

significant impact on the operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural 

resources. The Group strives to minimize our environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office 

supplies and other materials. The Group also adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. Double sided printing and 

copying, using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance are 

being implemented in the offices. For details on the Group’s environmental policy, please refer to the Environmental, Social 

and Governance Report set out on pages 34 to 43 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For our relationship with employees, please refer to the paragraph headed “Employees Remuneration and Benefits” as set 

out in the Financial Review on page 57 of this annual report. The Group also understands that it is important to maintain 

good relationships with customers, suppliers and other business partners to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, our 

senior management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when 

appropriate. During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its customers, suppliers 

and other business partners.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 

Company’s total issued share capital is held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 has been reviewed by the Audit 

Committee. Information on the composition and the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the “Corporate Governance 

Report” section of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited.

A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Lijun

Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining statutory and regulatory standards and adhering to good corporate 

governance in the conduct of its business. The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in enhancing the 

confidence of the shareholders, potential investors and business partners and is consistent with the Board’s pursuit of value 

creation for the Company’s shareholders.

The Company had applied and complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) 

as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2017 except for the deviations with explanations as set out 

hereunder.

1. According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate 

and should not be performed by the same individual. Up to the date of this report, the Board has not appointed 

an individual to the post of chief executive. The role of the chief executive has been performed collectively by all 

the executive Directors, particularly by the chairman of the Company. The Board considers that this arrangement is 

appropriate and cost effective in fostering the development of the Group, allowing contributions from all executive 

Directors with different expertise and more coherence and consistency in the planning and implementation of the 

policies and long term business strategies of the Company. The Board will periodically review the effectiveness of this 

arrangement and consider appointing an individual as chief executive when it is appropriate.

2. According to the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors should attend general 

meetings. Two of the independent non-executive Directors were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the 

Company held on 22 May 2017 due to various work commitments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently has six members, comprising three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. 

Collectively, they bring a broad range of commercial, financial, technology, management and stewardship experiences and 

varied skills, expertise and qualifications for leading and directing the Group’s affairs. The Directors’ biographical details 

and other information are set out in the “Directors’ Report” section of this report. The role and function of the Directors are 

published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Dr. Zhang Lijun and Ms. Wang Chun is a couple. Save as disclosed above, there are no financial, business, family or other 

material/relevant relationships among members of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

Any Director appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the Company (in the 

case of a filling a casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting (in the case of an addition to their 

number) and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company which 

conform to the requirements of the Listing Rules, one-third of Board members are required to retire by rotation each year 

at the annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. 

Directors, who retire, if eligible, may offer for re-election at the same annual general meeting.

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The management and control of the business of the Company ultimately rests with the Board. The Board sets long term 

direction and objectives and oversees the management’s plans and strategies for the delivery of results. The Board may 

delegate its responsibilities or functions to board committees and the day-to-day operation to management and ensures 

appropriate human and financial resources are appropriately applied and that the performance for the achievement of results 

is evaluated periodically. The Board approves all significant transactions and publication including annual reports, interim 

reports, circulars and announcements. In cases where shareholders’ approvals are required, the Board resolves to convene 

the necessary shareholders’ meetings to seek shareholders’ approval. Every Director is committed to carrying out his duty in 

good faith and acting honestly with due diligence, skill and care and in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders 

at all times.

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS

All Board and committee meetings adhere to a formal agenda set in advance for consideration/resolution. All Directors may 

arrange to include matters on the agenda for consideration at Board meetings. Board materials are provided in advance of the 

meetings and detailed minutes are prepared and made available to all Directors.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, a Director who to his knowledge is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract 

or arrangement or proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall declare the nature of his interest at the meeting 

of the Board at which the question of entering into the contract or arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he knows 

his interest then exists, or in any other case at the first meeting of the Board after he knows that he is or has become so 

interested. A Director shall not vote (nor shall he be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board approving any 

contract or arrangement or proposal in which he or any of his associate(s) has/have a material interest, and if he shall do so, 

his vote shall not be counted (nor shall be counted in the quorum for that resolution). Questions arising at any meeting of the 

Board shall be decided by a majority of votes.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Directors give sufficient time and attention of the Group’s affair. The Directors play an active role in participating the 

Company’s meetings through contribution of their professional opinions and active participation in discussion. The attendance 

record of each of the Directors for the Board meetings, the board committees meetings and the annual general meeting held 

during the year is listed as follows:

Number of Meetings Attended/Meetings Entitled to Attend

Board 
Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 

Meeting
General 
Meeting

Executive Directors
Zhang Lijun 6/6 n/a 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1
Wang Chun 6/6 n/a 3/3 2/2 n/a 0/1
Ji Qiang 3/3 n/a n/a n/a n/a 1/1

Independent Non-
executive Directors

Loke Yu  
(alias Loke Hoi Lam) 6/6 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1

Gong Zhankui 6/6 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 0/1
Wang Linan 6/6 2/2 3/3 2/2 1/1 0/1

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment so as to ensure 

that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/

her responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements. The Company provides regular updates 

to the Directors relating to the Group’s business and the business and regulatory environments in which the Group operates.

During the year, the Company arranged training sessions covering topics including Director’s duties, update on the Listing 

Rules Amendments and corporate governance practices. In addition, Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) attended relevant 

seminars organized by professional bodies.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and if necessary, have recourse to external 

professional advice at the Company’s expense. Also, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s 

performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against 

the Directors and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors comprise a good mix of professional and business 

executives who have significant exposure to the business and accounting environment of Hong Kong and the PRC. The Board 

believes that such a group is ideally qualified to provide independent advice and guidance to the Board, to serve on the board 

committees and to act as independent stewards of the Company for the interests of its shareholders.

During the year, the Company had complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of 

at least three independent non-executive Directors including at least one independent non-executive Director with appropriate 

professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. In addition, the Company also complied 

with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-executive Directors represents at least one-third of 

the Board.

The Board evaluates the independence of all independent non-executive Directors on an annual basis and has established 

the practice of requesting written confirmation from each independent non-executive Director regarding his independence. 

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence 

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers them to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors have each entered into a service agreement with the Company for a specific term 

of three years, and they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in 

accordance with the Bye-laws.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In accordance with the Bye-laws, the Board members elect among themselves a Director to be the Chairman. Dr. Zhang Lijun 

has been the Chairman since 8 December 2006.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the Board have been 

delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance 

Committee. Written terms of reference, which are in line with the CG Code, of all the board committees are available on the 

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was set up in 1999 and currently comprises all three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. 

Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (the chairman), Prof. Gong Zhankui and Mr. Wang Linan.

The Audit Committee provides the Board with advice and recommendations on accounting, reporting, internal control and 

risk management matters and acts as a formal liaison channel for review, communication and problem resolution between the 

Company and its auditors. The Audit Committee members collectively hold the relevant commercial, industry, financial and 

auditing experience necessary for the Audit Committee to function effectively and independently.

The Audit Committee’s primary functions include:

• to recommend to the Board on the appointment and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

• to review and monitor the appropriateness of accounting policy, accounting practices, financial reporting and disclosure 

and the application of judgment and estimates related thereto;

• to review the Company’s annual and interim reports and any opinion expressed by the external auditor;

• to review any related party transactions and connected party transactions for compliance with the requirements of the 

Listing Rules and for reasonableness and fairness to the Company and its shareholders;

• to review with the external auditor issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter, queries or similar 

communications;

• to monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance 

with applicable standards; and

• to assure that adequate internal controls including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management are 

in place and followed.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 

the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2017 with recommendations to the Board for 

approval. It also reviewed the internal control system of the Group, and discussed with the management and the external 

auditors the accounting policies and practices which may affect the Group and financial reporting matters. The Audit 

Committee has also actively participated at the full Board or any independent board committees formed from time to time 

for the purpose of advising the independent shareholders of the Company of transaction(s) which require their input or 

contributing their independent views in the areas of business, financial, management and operating practices.



 

V1 GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 29

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was set up in 2007 and currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, 

namely Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) (the chairman), Prof. Gong Zhankui and Mr. Wang Linan, and two executive 

Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Lijun and Ms. Wang Chun.

For determining the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management, the Remuneration Committee 

has adopted the model that it shall perform an advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to 

approve the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management. It recommends to the Board on the 

Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Board members and senior management, on the establishment 

of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration and to determine specific remuneration 

packages for the Directors and senior management of the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration policy, structure and packages for Directors 

and senior management, and assessed the performance of the executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee also 

reviewed the remuneration package and service agreement of Mr. Ji Qiang upon his appointment as an executive Director. 

Recommendations regarding the increase of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management were made by the 

Remuneration Committee to the Board.

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors to run the Company successfully 

but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion of executive Directors’ 

remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. In setting remuneration 

packages, the Company takes into account pay and employment conditions within the same industry and in comparable 

companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of individual Director. Individual Director and 

executive would not be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was set up in 2008 and currently comprises two executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhang Lijun (the 

chairman) and Ms. Wang Chun and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), 

Prof. Gong Zhankui and Mr. Wang Linan.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating and reviewing the nomination and Board diversity policies, reviewing 

the size, structure and composition of the Board, and making recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment 

of Directors and Board succession with adequate consideration to the Board diversity policy. The Company endeavours to 

ensure that its Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to 

support the execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective. The Nomination Committee adopts 

certain criteria to assist in its evaluation including but not limited to the candidate’s gender, age, cultural and educational 

background, professional experience, business background, his past responsibility, exposure to the business environment in 

which the Group operates and intends to be engaged in and his experience including directorship or senior management level 

involvements with other entities, and his contribution or achievement to the Group. The Nomination Committee also assesses 

the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the policy for the nomination of Directors, the composition of the Board, 

the Board diversity policy, the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and the re-election of all the retiring 

Directors at 2017 annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee also reviewed the biographical details, diversity to the 

Board and time contribution of Mr. Ji Qiang in relation to his appointment as an executive Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was set up in 2012 and currently comprises three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely Prof. Gong Zhankui (the chairman), Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) and Mr. Wang Linan, and an 

executive Director, namely Dr. Zhang Lijun.

The primary functions of the Corporate Governance Committee are to develop and review the Company’s policies and 

practices on corporate governance in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Corporate Governance 

Committee also reviews the disclosure systems of the Company and introducing relevant principles concerning corporate 

governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate governance of the Company.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the policies and practices on corporate governance of the 

Company, the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management, and the disclosure 

in the corporate governance report in the 2016 Annual Report of the Company.

AUDIT AND RELATED FEES

During the year under review, the fees paid or payable to the Group’s external auditor BDO Limited were as follows:

Audit service HK$1,240,000

Non-audit services HK$88,000

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining effective internal control system for 

the Group and overseeing the internal control system through the Group’s internal audit department. The management 

of the Group is delegated with the responsibility from time to time to implement and maintain the Board’s policies on risk 

management and control. Detailed procedures are developed by management for major business units. The Group’s internal 

control system is designed to provide cost-effectiveness and reasonable protection, which safeguards the Group’s assets 

and maintains the integrity of the accounting and reporting systems. The Group emphasizes the appointment of qualified, 

experienced and capable individuals to carry out critical control functions and has put in place a system for effective 

segregation of key duties and responsibilities. The Board and the Audit Committee periodically evaluate major controls and 

risks and where necessary, retain external professional services to evaluate or seek improvements to the internal control 

system.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

The Group’s internal audit department reviews our significant control measures on an on-going basis, aiming to monitor 

all our major businesses periodically. Overall, the internal audit aims to provide the Board with reasonable assurance that 

the Group’s internal control system is effective. During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed effectiveness of the risk 

management and internal control systems of the Group on behalf of the Board. The review covered all material control areas 

including financial, compliance and risk management functions. Based on the results of the review, the Board is satisfied that 

the Group has maintained sound and adequate internal controls in all major areas.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 

set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities transactions and dealings, which applies to 

all the relevant persons as defined in the Model Code, including the Directors, any employee of the Company, or a director 

or employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company who, because of such office or employment or involvement, 

are likely to come into contact or be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or 

its securities. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors who have confirmed their compliance with the required 

standards set out in the Model Code during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for overseeing the preparation of accounts for each financial period, 

which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash 

flow for that period. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017, the Directors have, among other things:

• selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

• approved adoption of all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; and

• made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the going 

concern basis.

The auditor’s respective responsibilities to the shareholders in respect of the financial statements are included in the 

“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The 

Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters. For 

the year under review, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 

training. The biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the “Directors’ Report” section of this report.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association of the Company and the Bye-laws are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 

the Company. During the year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company attaches great priority to open and effective communications with its shareholders and potential investors on 

the development of the Company. The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy and reviews it on a 

regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website through which the Company’s updated financial information, announcements, circulars, 

notices of meetings, press releases and contact details can be accessed by its shareholders and investors. The Board believes 

that the Company’s website provides an alternative means for the investing public to obtain information of the Company in a 

convenient and timely manner.

The Directors regard all meetings with its shareholders to be very important as they offer opportunities for direct 

communication with the shareholders. When appropriate, presentations would be made at general meetings for the purposes 

of keeping shareholders informed of corporate developments. The Chairman and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, 

Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, as well as the Company’s auditor maintained an on-going dialogue with the 

shareholders and answered all questions raised by the shareholders during the last annual general meeting held on 22 May 

2017.

In addition, key executives of the Company also participate in conferences and forums with the objective of promoting investor 

and stakeholder interests in the Group’s businesses.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, special general meetings shall also be convened on requisition as provided by the Companies Act 

of Bermuda. The Directors, notwithstanding anything in the Bye-laws shall, on the requisition of members of the Company 

holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the Company as 

at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a 

special general meeting of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the 

Company, and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (Continued)

CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING (Continued)

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a 

meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may 

themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the 

said date. A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in 

which meetings are to be convened by Directors.

PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Companies Act of Bermuda, any number of members of the Company representing not less than one-

twentieth of the total voting rights of all the members having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to 

which the requisition relate or not less than one hundred members of the Company may deposit a written requisition to put 

forward proposals.

The Company shall then give to members of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice 

of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; circulate to members entitled 

to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to the 

matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner and, 

so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served or given at 

that time, it shall be served or given as soon as practicable thereafter.

PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board with contact details as below:–

Investor Relations

V1 Group Limited

Room 3506, 35th Floor

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone: 852-2869 8966

Facsimile: 852-2869 8960

E-mail: info@vodone.com.hk, ir@v1.cn

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the staff of the investor relations department will consider the concern proposed and raise it 

to the Board in the regular Board meeting for their considering and communicate with the shareholders for the result and 

feedback of the Board meeting.
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Environmental, Social and
Governance Report

 

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the second time V1 Group Limited (“V1 Group” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, “We” or the “Group”) 

issues an Environmental, Social and Governance report in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Reporting Guide (“ESG Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions in the 

ESG Guide. The Company has conducted an assessment on the applicability and materiality of the relevant key performance 

indicators (“KPIs”) under the ESG Guide.

All information and data disclosed herein are from formal documents or internal statistics of the Group. This report has been 

reviewed and approved by the Board of V1 Group.

1. SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This report covers the financial year ended 31 December 2017 (“Reporting Period”) and discloses information on the 

Group’s overall performance, management approaches and strategies and objectives on four main aspects including 

quality of workplace environment, environmental protection, operating practice and community involvement. There is 

no significant change in the scope of this report from that of the 2016 ESG report in the annual report of the Company.

This report covers the situation of the above aspects in the operation of V1 Group’s core business (i.e. tele-media 

business, including internet audio-visual new media, online games, online trading platform and other internet plus 

businesses). The principal place of operation of the core business is Mainland China and Hong Kong.

2. STAKEHOLDER’S INVOLVEMENT, ENQUIRY AND OPINION

The Group communicates with its stakeholders through financial reports, statutory announcements, shareholder 

meetings, face-to-face meetings and other channels, in order to reveal its financial and operating condition to the 

stakeholders. This report is also intended to allow stakeholders to understand our performance on environmental 

protection, community and corporate sustainable development.

We welcome stakeholders to share their enquiry or opinion on this report with us via:

Address: Room 3506, 35th Floor, Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2869 8966

Fax: (852) 2869 8960

E-mail address: info@vodone.com.hk
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ABOUT V1 GROUP

1. MISSION AND VISION

V1 Group was established in 2005, and listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2006, which 

made it the first listed video media enterprise in China. In more than ten years of development, V1 Group also 

witnessed the global and China’s economic changes, the rapid reform of the domestic economy and finance, and 

the thriving of internet and other emerging industries. V1 Group has obtained a number of achievements in the 

development process of the enterprise. Through continuous business innovation, it has laid a leading position in 

the new media industry. However, we still adhere to the goal of becoming “China’s leading new media enterprise”. 

Combining the enterprise mission of “strive to make lives better by utilizing future-proof internet technologies”, the 

Group will actively expand the “Internet Plus” business riding on the rapid growth of the internet industry, so as to 

make great contribution to the development of the industry and national economy.

2. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Audit Committee

Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Board of Directors

Senior Management

Various Departments

For the written terms of reference of the board committees and other relevant information about corporate governance, 

please refer to pages 24 to 33 of this annual report.
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3. COMMITMENTS TO STAKEHOLDERS

As a responsible corporate citizen, we consider the needs of the stakeholders while striving to promote the 

development of business innovation and improve business performance, in order to balance the interests of all parties. 

We incorporate the consideration of the stakeholders in our business strategies, minimizing the impact on the natural 

environment and community by our business operation. We take environmental measures to address the challenges of 

climate change, reduce or even eliminate the indirect damage to the environment; create a good working environment 

for employees and provide them with abundant resources to help them grow; make commitment to partners and 

customers, with integrity operation to provide quality products and services; comply with applicable regulations to 

strengthen corporate governance and improve internal control; encourage employees to participate in community 

activities to give back to the society, cultivating the value of helping people.

In the future, the Group will strengthen the communication with stakeholders, and perform corporate social 

responsibility in line with its business strategy and development planning.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group’s core business is dependent on internet technology and related equipment, and does not involve any 

manufacturing process. During the Reporting Period, the Group didn’t directly produce any waste gas or greenhouse 

gas, waste water, sludge or any other harmful or harmless waste.

Accordingly, in terms of environmental aspect, this report is focused on that of the Group’s office premises in Mainland 

China and Hong Kong during the ordinary course of business and relevant remedial measures.

The resource consumption of the Group is as follows:

 

2016 2017 2016 2017

Mainland China

Hong Kong

Power consumption Fuel consumption

0 L
(C02 equivalent:

15.12 tons2)

(C02 equivalent:
45.22 tons4)

(C02 equivalent:
8.75 tons2)

(C02 equivalent:
60.51 tons4)

0 L

58,300 kWh3
20,600 L 17,950 L78,000 kWh3

11,074 kWh1

19,378 kWh1

1 This figure is based on the records on electricity bills
2 According to Hong Kong Electric, with 1 kWh of power generated through combustion of fuel, 0.79 kg (2016: 0.78 kg) of CO2 

is produced
3 This figure is based on the records on electricity bills
4 The average CO2 emission factor for Beijing provincial power grids is 0.7757 kg CO2/kWh, according to “Calculating Method 

and Data Form for CO2 Emission”(《二氧化碳排放核算方法及數據核查表》) published by Department of Climate Change of 

National Development and Reform Commission（國家發改委應對氣候變化司）on 15 May 2016

There is no direct water supply to the office apart from water uses discharges at shared facilities of the office building 

for which no usage statistics are available.
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1. OVERALL APPROACH

Global environment faces a major challenge as a result of exacerbating global warming. In this respect, we are 

dedicated to a sound environmental management through taking into account the impact to the environment when 

conducting our businesses, in order to contribute to the improvement of environment and the cause of addressing 

climate change. In addition to our compliance with the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC（中華人民共和國

環境保護法）and laws and regulations issued by local regulatory bodies and industry guidance, we also have made 

various rules to minimise indirect emission and energy and resource consumption from our daily operation.

1.1 Energy saving and consumption reducing practice

For the purpose of energy saving within our office premises, we encourage our colleagues to reduce 

unnecessary use of lights during the day time, including keeping the lights off in a meeting room when it is 

not used, and to turn off computers, screenplays and other electronic devices before leaving the office. And 

our office premises are designed to maximise the access to natural lights and feature LED lighting systems, to 

minimise power consumption.

We maintain good ventilation and air conditioning systems through regular cleaning and maintenance, including 

keeping condensate water and indoor temperature at an appropriate level, to improve indoor air quality, which 

not only is beneficial to employees’ health, but also help to reduce the producing of pollutants and the use of air 

conditioning.

We choose to use more environment friendly electrical equipment whenever possible, such as printer, light bulb, 

computer and fridge with higher energy efficiency.

1.2 Waste reducing and recycling programs

We have several waste recycling programs in place, to reduce the electronic and paper waste. We sell or recycle 

obsolete equipment, to minimise electronic solid waste. Even if a device has to be disposed of, we will arrange 

for the recycling of it by a professional organization so that the resulted electronic waste will be dealt with in an 

appropriate way.

We purchase more environment friendly supplies, including recycled paper, biodegradable garbage bag, ozone 

friendly correction fluid, ball pen with replaceable cartridge. As a new media enterprise, we leverage on our 

internet technology to digitalise our paperwork, including internal or publicly released documents, as well 

as company and brand marketing materials, while requiring our employees to double-sided print a paper, to 

minimise paper waste.

Given the nature of the Group’s business, the Company believes that its business operations have minimal direct 

impact on the environment and natural resources. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the 

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the environment and natural resource relating to air and 

greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and sludge, and generation of harmful or harmless waste.
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2. TARGET

We have offered guidelines on environmental protection, including those mentioned above, to each of our employees, 

in an effort to minimise our negative impact on natural environment from our daily operation. Besides, we circulate 

updates on environmental protection across the Company, and intensified our internal control over environmental 

impact from the Company, to enhance the environment awareness of our employees. We will review the effectiveness of 

our environment related policies and activities, keep ourselves up to date on the latest in environmental protection and, 

depending on our managerial and operating results, set goals for the Group on environment protection, for the purpose 

of continuously improving our environmental performance.

B. SOCIAL

1. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employee Profile

121 128
  

156 138 
 

277
266

2016 2017

Female

Male

Total number of staff by gender

 

 

11

121

145

3 8 7

117

131

2016 2017

＜30

30-39

40-49

50-59

Total number of staff by age group

There is no specific requirement or general practice on gender in terms of our business nature, nor do we have 

any requirement on age of our employees.
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Overall Approach

The Group had a total number of over 260 employees. We are committed to providing a respectful, honest and 

fair workplace for our employees. We ensure our human resources policies in compliance with all applicable 

domestic and local laws and with reference to the general practice and benchmark of the industry. We strictly 

implement the relevant human resources policies, and all employees are bound by the provisions of the work 

guidelines and employment contracts made thereunder. Our human resources policies detailed, inter alia, 

the Group’s employment policies, employees’ welfare, rights and responsibilities, code of professional ethics, 

workplace safety and health guidelines, in order to protect the interests of both the Company and the employees.

The Group has complied with the following laws:

• Employment Ordinance;

• Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance;

• Employees’ Compensation Ordinance;

• Minimum Wage Ordinance;

• Sex Discrimination Ordinance;

• Disability Discrimination Ordinance;

• Family Status Discrimination Ordinance;

• Race Discrimination Ordinance;

• Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance;

• Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China; and

• Regulation on Labor Security Supervision
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1.1 Employment

The Group creates a fair, discrimination-free and respectful workplace and culture for our employees. 

We have established a comprehensive system of remuneration, incentive and performance management 

system to attract and retain talents for our long-term and stable growth. The system consists of basic 

salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory provident fund, medical and other insurance, annual leave, 

sick leave and various subsidies), and monetary and non-monetary rewards (i.e. discretionary bonus, 

sales commission and share options) for the employees.

Generally, when an employee is dismissed (due to violation of the Group’s regulations, or that his or 

her performance is consistently below an acceptable level or other reasons), our human resources 

department will follow a range of procedures pursuant to our human resources management policies to 

terminate his or her employment contract. When necessary, the human resources department will consult 

our management or seek legal advices to ensure that applicable labour laws are observed.

1.2 Health and Safety

The Group is committed to building a safe, healthy and hygienic workplace for our employees. We attach 

high importance to employees’ health and wellbeing and have developed a series of workplace health 

and safety guidelines in accordance with relevant regulatory requirements and recommendations from 

professional bodies and governmental authorities. The guidelines include contingency measures in 

relation to emergencies such as fire, typhoon rainstorms, hazardous material leakage, as well as first aid 

skills, emergency use of equipment in response to accidents, so as to enhance the employees’ ability to 

deal with the emergences.

To ensure the employees’ safety, we require all departments to strictly monitor and enforce such 

guidelines to achieve the goal of “zero accidents, zero injuries”. Apart from internal guidelines, we also 

comply with the safety guidelines in relation to fire prevention and ventilation and regularly join the fire 

drills organised in the office building. We provide updated safety and health information to our employees 

to raise their awareness of work safety.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to health and safety laws and regulations for the 

year ended 31 December 2017.
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1.3 Development and Training

The Group recognizes the importance of employee growth to the sustainable development of the 

enterprise and therefore attaches great importance to employee training. We develop appropriate training 

programs based on the direction and needs of the business development and employees’ position, which 

include seminars, workshops and conferences, on-the-job training relating to new media and other 

business, as well as personal training on business management, project management, communication 

skills, presentation skills, etc., with a view to enhance employee quality, qualifications and skills to help 

them grow in the long run. In addition to internal training, we also encourage employees to participate in 

external training programs in pursuit of their personal career development goals. All Directors, Company 

Secretary and senior management will also be trained or provided with up-to-date information on 

corporate governance and listing regulations.

29,600

 

24,888

  

5,408

 
4,712

 
 

 

2016 2017

General Staff

Executives

Total training hours

In addition to employee training, we also provide sufficient internal promotion opportunities for employees 

to promote outstanding employees with enthusiasm and development potential to important positions 

within the Group. We allow employees to communicate their work and career development goals and 

make them feel respected and cared about and provide opportunities for them to develop their strengths, 

so they can obtain greater job satisfaction.

1.4 Labor Standards

The Group’s human resources management system is strictly in compliance with the Employment 

Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Regulation on Labor Security Supervision

（《勞動保障監察條例》）promulgated by the State Council of the People’s Republic of China and is 

made with reference to international labor standards and industry practices. All employee recruitment and 

promotion activities of the Group are governed by the management system to ensure that there is no child 

labor and forced labor, or discrimination of race, religion, age, disability or other kinds.
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1.4 Labor Standards (Continued)

We are convinced that the conduct of all employees and directors has been fully regulated through a 

detailed description of the matters in the employment contract and the code of conduct. We will also 

strictly monitor the behaviors of employees in the workplace and try to eliminate any harassment and 

bullying in any workplace. We strongly urge employees to report complaints to their supervisors and 

senior management when they find any misconduct. We will conduct a detailed investigation based on 

the complaints and submit the findings to the human resources department and senior management, 

and make necessary actions and improvement measures according to the actual situation, including 

punishing and dismissing employees, and even seeking legal advice and taking appropriate legal actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no child labor or forced labor, and there were no cases of 

discrimination involving sex, race, religion, age, disability, and harassment and bullying.

2. OPERATING PRACTICE

2.1 Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches importance to integrity and has the same requirements for suppliers and partners. 

We will only choose reputable suppliers and partners with good business records, satisfactory products 

and services quality, and will not simply consider the cost. We strictly monitor the procurement process to 

ensure that there is no interests transfer or corruption of any kind.

In addition, we hope that suppliers and partners have similar practices in respect of environmental 

protection, employment, operating practice and other aspects with us. If we find any violation of the 

relevant environmental protection, employment and other laws, we will immediately suspend the 

cooperation with such suppliers and partners. The Group will also evaluate the products and services 

provided by the supplier, check whether the supplier has fulfilled the product liability, report the relevant 

information to the relevant departments and management, and replace the supplier if necessary.

The Group’s suppliers are mainly from Mainland China and Dubai, accounting for 98.8% and 1.2% 

respectively.

2.2 Product Liability

The Group attaches great importance to the quality of its products and services. We believe that products 

and services of good quality are one of the key factors on which we rely to succeed. Detailed manuals 

are maintained to control the quality of our products and services. Due to the nature of our business, a 

majority of contents on our internet channels are live videos broadcasting on the internet or videos made 

by internet users of various backgrounds. In this regard, according to relevant regulations and standards 

such as Beijing Network Show (Live Broadcast) Industry Self-regulation Convention（《北京市網絡表

演（直播）行業自律公約》）, we strictly regulate the contents of videos and the behaviors of anchors 

by requiring the anchors to care about their appearances and strictly prohibit the contents of violence, 

pornography, hatred, superstition and gambling, etc., failing of which they will be blocked to broadcast 

those contents and even be blacklisted and have their accounts deleted permanently.
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2.2 Product Liability (Continued)

We attach great importance to customer privacy, and have a set of strict management guidelines with 

respect to privacy protection. Take Liangzi Gang as an example, in order to improve the quality of our 

products and services, we will collect the users’ data and have them analysed and integrated, however, 

we will also ensure the security and confidentiality of the users’ data with data technology and strict 

management measures.

During the Reporting Period, there is no loss to our customers arising from leak of their personal data or 

other service aberrations, or any complaints or damage claims from customers for bad service quality.

2.3 Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to the philosophy of “integrity” in doing business and is devoted to creating a 

corruption-free work atmosphere. We oblige Directors and all employees to strictly comply with relevant 

laws and moral standards. The Group has set up an internal audit department and an audit committee 

whilst hiring external lawyers and auditors in compliance with corporate governance and disclosure 

requirements imposed on listed companies by the Stock Exchange. We regularly evaluate our internal 

control mechanism to enhance our governance level.

On daily operation, the Group has a zero-tolerance policy regarding corruption and fraud. Detailed terms 

about anti-corruption, anti-bribery and conflict of interests are set out in employee’s code of conduct 

to ensure strict compliance of laws by all employees. The Group regularly provides anti-corruption 

information to employees to heighten their awareness and promote professional conduct. Whenever 

corruption or fraud cases are spotted, we will immediately carry out inspection and report to the 

management.

During the Reporting Period, there is no corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering activities 

by our Group and its employees.

3. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group values corporate social responsibility and raises employees’ awareness of caring for the community 

and mutual help.

During the Reporting Period, the Group proactively seeks to promote the spirit of corporate social responsibility 

within the company by organizing or participating in appropriate community activities. Through this kind of 

events, we encourage our employees to contribute to the community so as to raise their community awareness, 

and to care for and help the needy. Moreover, we encourage them to share their experience after the events to 

influence other employees and set positive values.
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On 27 April 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved a new share option scheme (the “V1 Group Scheme”) which 

was subsequently adopted on 30 April 2012 by the Company, and terminated the share option scheme adopted on 7 June 

2002 (the “Old V1 Group Scheme”).

Upon termination of the Old V1 Group Scheme, no further share options will be offered under the Old V1 Group Scheme. 

However, the share options granted prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 

Old V1 Group Scheme. As at 31 December 2017, there was no outstanding share options granted under the Old V1 Group 

Scheme.

Under the V1 Group Scheme, the Directors may, at their discretion, invite any eligible participants to take up options to 

subscribe for shares in the capital of the Company. The V1 Group Scheme is effective for the period from 30 April 2012 to 

29 April 2022. The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options (excluding options 

which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the V1 Group Scheme) to be granted under the V1 Group Scheme 

must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the V1 Group Scheme (the “V1 

Group Scheme Limit”) provided that, inter-alia, the Company may seek approval of the shareholders at general meeting to 

refresh the V1 Group Scheme Limit. The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all 

outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the V1 Group Scheme and the Old V1 Group Scheme shall not 

exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

A summary of the principal terms of the V1 Group Scheme is given below:

(I) Purpose of the V1 Group Scheme:

The purpose of the V1 Group Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or 

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

(II) Participants of the V1 Group Scheme:

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of the V1 Group Scheme, at their absolute discretion invite 

any person belonging to any of the following classes of participants to take up options to subscribe for shares of the 

Company:

a. any employee, executive (including any executive director but excluding any non-executive director), manager, 

consultant or proposed employee, manager, consultant of the Company, any of its subsidiaries (“Subsidiary”), 

any controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company (“Holding Company”) or any entity 

in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

b. any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any Subsidiary, 

any Holding Company or any Invested Entity;

c. any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Holding Company or any Invested Entity;
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d. any customer of the Group or any Holding Company or any Invested Entity;

e. any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support to the Group or any 

Holding Company or any Invested Entity;

f. any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any 

member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

g. any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business development of any 

member of the Group or any Holding Company or any Invested Entity; and

h. any joint venture partner or business alliance that co-operates with any member of the Group or any Holding 

Company or any Invested Entity in any area of business operation or development.

(III) Total number of shares available for issue under the V1 Group Scheme and percentage of issued share capital it 

represents as at the date of this report:

The total number of shares available for issue under the V1 Group Scheme was 178,678,478 shares representing 

approximately 5.42% of the issued share capital as at the date of this report.

(IV) Maximum entitlement of each participant under the V1 Group Scheme:

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the 

V1 Group Scheme (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall 

not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being unless it is approved by shareholders at 

general meeting of the Company with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting. Where any grant of share 

options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates, 

would result in the shares issued and to be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be 

granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and 

including the date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (b) having an 

aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million; such 

further grant of options must be approved by shareholders at general meeting of the Company.

(V) The period within which the shares must be taken up under an option:

The period within which the options must be exercised will be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This 

period shall not be more than 10 years from the relevant date of grant.

(VI) The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised:

The Company may specify any minimum period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be exercised at the 

time of grant of the options. The V1 Group Scheme does not contain any such minimum period.
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(VII) The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option and the period within which payments or calls must or 

may be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid:

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option within such time specified in 

the offer (which shall not be later than 10 business days from the date of the grant).

(VIII) The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price under the V1 Group Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors but shall not be less than 

the highest of:

a. the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trades in one or more 

board lots of shares on the date of the offer of grant which must be a business day;

b. the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trades in one 

or more board lots of shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant which 

must be a business day; and

c. the nominal value of a share.

(IX) The remaining life of the V1 Group Scheme:

The V1 Group Scheme has the period of 10 years commencing from 30 April 2012.

There was no option granted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2017. Details of the share options as at 

the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING RESULTS

Turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to HK$510,626,000, representing an increase 

of around 231.3% as compared with last year. Due to the absence of one-off impairment loss in last year caused by the 

suspension of the lottery-related business, loss for the year decreased to HK$371,700,000 (2016: HK$981,639,000) which 

included the non-cash impairment loss of web games and games engines, Quick To and Homeincare businesses and the cost 

incurred for the development of new internet plus businesses.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION

BUSINESS MODEL

The Group’s core business operations is the tele-media business including internet audio-visual new media, online games, 

online trading platform and other internet plus businesses, which are of sizeable scale and significant influence in the 

Mainland China. We are committed to providing high-quality services and creating sustainable values for shareholders and 

investors.

By leveraging on the advantage of possessing all the necessary qualifications and licenses, the Group is able to offer various 

services according to users’ needs, and to generate advertising revenue and service fees from such platform. 

In respect of internet plus business, the Group developed mobile apps and website that integrated the advantages of internet 

with various traditional industries. The Group earns income by providing a platform to service providers and individual user. 

The Group has a large base of users and also cooperates with a number of quality service providers.

The Group currently launched its online trading platform which applies the blockchain technology for users to carry out 

online trading. The Group earns income by providing competitive supply chain solutions, products and services to various 

enterprises, customers, value-added service providers, shops and their consumers.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

The Group adopts the following strategies to create sustainable values for shareholders:

• Making focused efforts on the mini-video news portal platform, online games, online trading platform and internet plus 

businesses

• Actively stepping up business expansion and cementing partnership

• Balancing risk exposures

• Maintaining prudent financial management
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Making focused efforts on the mini-video news portal platform, online games, online trading 
platform and internet plus businesses

The Group attains growth by winning patronage from China’s internet users and mobile phone users, and has built itself into 

an impeccably reputed player and an unrivalled brand over the years. With strong confidence in the continued expansion of 

the internet audio-visual new media, online games, online trading platform and internet plus businesses, the Group is rapidly 

expanding into these sectors. Given that the Group is firmly dedicated to pursuing its core strategy of providing excellent 

and quality services, the Group’s brand secures widespread market recognition. The Group will uphold its core strategy and 

continue to strengthen its brand.

Actively stepping up business expansion and cementing partnership

The Group dedicated vigorous efforts on its business expansion through enrichment of website contents and development of 

new products. The Group also formed stronger partnership with a number of media partners in relation to the expansion of 

sales channels. Based on our renowned reputation, seasoned team plus unswerving commitment to premium product and 

service quality, we will be well-positioned to extend focused endeavours on the development and consolidation of the Group’s 

business as well as to maintain our brand value.

Balancing risk exposures

The Group’s risk management policies, which are framed in accordance with the operating principles of the Company, aim to 

prevent any possible losses within the scope of bearable risks, enhance shareholder values to the extent of an optimal balance 

between risks and rewards as well as fulfill the principle of optimization of capital allocation. The management expects to 

exercise continued control over the cost of the Group in the future, and to strive for sustainable core competitiveness, with a 

view to striking a balance between the development of the Group and the reward for shareholders.

Maintaining prudent financial management

The key to our success is to maintain sound financial position. With prudent financial management in place, we can ensure 

the positive development of the Group and enable the Group to capture the opportunities to invest in attractive projects. The 

Group places great emphasis on the management of liquidity, in order to ensure that the Company has a sufficient pool of 

funds to meet day-to-day operations and to finance strategic investments.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2017, the Group continued to focus on the development of the tele-media business, including internet audio-visual new 

media, online games, online trading platform and other internet plus businesses.

• TELE-MEDIA BUSINESS

V1 Portal

Short video, an emerging magnet that attracted major capital inflows in 2017, is progressing from 

pan-entertainment to the vertical field. According to the “2017 Big Data Insight of the Short Video 

Industry”（二零一七短視頻行業大數據洞察）report published by CBNData (“CBNData Report”), 

the production of short videos are increasingly organized, verticalized and personalized; and the 

industry is evolving towards paid and copyright protected short videos.

As short videos are experiencing exponential growth, V1 Portal has adjusted and upgraded its 

strategy on short videos on a timely basis, extending the deployment in organized, verticalized and 

personalized production of short videos, while improving and upgrading its paid services.

Organized Production

V1 Portal has entered into cooperation agreements with individuals as well as small and medium-sized teams, leveraging their 

content production and assisting in their operation, promotion, mid to long-term planning and commercialization. Aside from 

that, V1 Portal also tapped into its own merits in short video production and extensive media relations network to produce 

quality IP contents in various areas such as culture, finance and popular social issues. Currently, V1 Portal has achieved 

preliminary results in content production and professional operation.

Verticalized Content

As indicated in the CBNData Report, the popularity of funny, humorous and entertaining contents is receding due to the 

increasing homogeneity of these contents. In contrast, the scarcity value of the quality contents focusing on finance, culture 

and the society has been emerging. Professional knowledge contents gain easier access to capital investments. As a large 

number of verticalized content areas are still virgin lands, there exists huge market potential.
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While amassing contents, V1 Portal seeks to commercialize the contents 

of short videos that focused on finance, culture and the society. In 

particular, the Company places the emphasis on the IP copyright of its 

live commentary and video on demand programs, such as “World Insight”

（坐視天下）and “Learning Chinese Idioms with Wenyun”（文運成語）. 

V1 Portal also boosts its online influence and video views by working 

with mainstream media such as Toutiao（今日頭條）, Yidianzixun（一

點資訊）, ifeng News（鳳凰新聞）, Sohu News（搜狐新聞）, Tencent 

News（騰訊新聞）, Kuaibao（天天快報）, Sina Video（新浪視頻）, ZAKER and CCTV News. Besides, during the second 

half of 2017, V1 Portal placed its operational focus on Tower, a national investment service community mobile application. 

Integrating various contents such as financial information, investment consultation and escort transaction, Tower targets 

400 million users of the Chinese middle class and also engages financial commentators, such as Wu Xiaobo（吳曉波）, Ye 

Tan（葉檀）, Ma Guangyuan（馬光遠）and Qin Xiao（秦曉）. As the first financial video platform in China, Tower delivers 

commercial value in multiple respects.

Regional Personalization

V1 Portal has experienced an exponential growth of short videos on its platform, coupled with 

the continuous emergence and update of verticalized and professionalized contents. Against this 

backdrop, precise and personalized recommendation will be given a more important role. V1 Portal’s 

personalized recommendation system, a product of its own research and development, is capable 

of precisely calculating the user’s personal preference and recommending personalized short videos 

based on regional characteristics, which enables the contents to be recommended to potential users 

in a more precise way.

Initial Effect in Paid Service

In the Chinese internet market, the main commercialization model of short videos still concentrates on product placement and 

e-commerce traffics. However, statistics show that the penetration of paid membership rose from 10% to 16% across video 

websites in 2017. Paid membership will play a more prominent role in the revenue model of video websites. With the new 

trend of users being more inclined to pay for original high quality contents, there will be a great prospect for paid short-video 

contents. For instance, Tower will also provide large amounts of paid financial contents to diversify product revenue sources.

Joint Action by Live-broadcast Platforms

In December 2017, V1 Portal had joined the “New Times Online Positive Energy Live”（新時

代網上正能量直播矩陣）. Under the guidance of Beijing Cyberspace Affairs Office（北京市

網信辦）and Beijing Internet Association（首都互聯網協會）, V1 Portal cooperated with other 

online live-broadcast platforms to jointly plan, create and explore the main theme contents 

and cultural products, jointly provide mainstream cultural live contents to netizens. V1 Portal 

takes full advantage of its own platform and assumes the responsibility of mainstream cultural 

communication, with good results obtained and positive social value delivered.
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Rolling Out the City Partners Scheme

Leveraging its media influence, advantageous products and technologies and capability to 

integrate various resources, V1 Portal has launched the brand new “City Channel”, focusing 

on urban development as well as tourism and cultural resources. The new channel empowers 

its alliance members to tap into their value, and engages We Media professionals, industrial 

chain institutions, governments and clients in in-depth collaboration, to jointly materialize the 

internet plus tourism development.

Wide Industrial Recognition

On 15 April 2017, The Global CEO Innovation Summit co-hosted by the State Administration 

of Foreign Experts Affairs and the People’s Government of Shenzhen Municipality took 

place at the Convention and Exhibition Center in Shenzhen. The event gathered more than 

1,000 political and business leaders, innovation presidents, representatives from renowned 

investment institutions and the deans of Top-500 business schools. The attendees discussed 

the opportunities and challenges for corporate sustainability in the background of global 

economy. Adhering to the innovation and improvement of user experience, V1 Portal won the 

“Most Innovative Enterprises with the Highest Investment Value Award in 2016”（二零一六年

度最具投資價值創新企業獎）.

In the Sixth China FinTech Summit, Tower platform won the “Highest Growth Value Award in Fintech in 2017”（二零一七年度

金融科技最具成長價值獎）among more than 300 Fintech corporate participants.

The Sixth China Forex Expo of 2017 took place at Great China International Exchange Square in Shenzhen. Participated by 

over 4,000 industry leaders, the event covered various areas including foreign exchange, precious metals, stocks, internet 

finance, social trading, crude oil and natural gas. During the presentation ceremony, the jury of the organizing committee 

selected Tower as the winner of the “Top-10 Financial Product Innovation Award”（十佳金融產品創新獎）out of more than 

100 institutional candidates.

China Short Video Conference (CSVC) took place at Beijing Taihe Theater（北京泰禾影城）. A total of 129 leading industry 

platforms joined the competition, chaired by a 15-member jury composed of representatives from research institutes and 

leading companies. With reference to online voting, Tower platform was awarded the “China Best Financial Video Award”（中

國最佳財經視訊獎）.
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CATV

2017 witnessed the growing influence of CATV, an improving brand with greater commercialization. In May 2017, the Ministry 

of Foreign Affairs of the PRC granted CATV China News Center a license for China-based foreign news agency, which marks 

a new stage in the exchange of information, trade, commerce and cultural communication between China and the Arab 

countries.

As economic globalization deepens nowadays, China and the Arab countries have emerged as key partners under the Belt 

and Road initiative and engaged in increasingly in-depth communication in respect of trade and commerce, science and 

technology, academics, tourism, folk culture, publication and media, radio, film and television, food and beverage. As a 

window for Chinese and Arabs to learn about each other, CATV helps both peoples to forge great partnerships featuring 

mutual respect, extensive communication, in-depth collaboration, mutual benefit and common development.

Coverage of Major Events

In response to the Belt and Road initiative that calls for “Telling a Good 

Chinese Story and Spreading Chinese Voices”（講好中國故事，傳播中國

聲音）, CATV covered many major events in 2017, including the Belt and 

Road Forum, BRICS Summit, China-Arab States Expo and the 19th CPC 

National Congress. In the future, CATV will continue to boost its influence 

by covering such key events as the Two Sessions, the Boao Forum for Asia 

Annual Conference, the Shanghai Cooperation Organization Summit, and 

the Forum on China-Africa Cooperation.

Production of Key Programs

“Belt and Road: China-Arab Interview”（一帶一路 •中阿訪談錄）is a high-

end program produced by CATV in the form of interview, with an aim to 

better promote the investment environment, corporate product and tourist 

market of various Chinese provinces to the investment agencies and corporate 

clients from the Arab countries. By building on its existing programs, CATV 

will produce more prime programs in 2018, such as “Xin’s View”（馨視野）, 

“Let’s Learn Chinese”（跟我學漢語）and “Here Comes Ah-Sir”（阿Sir來了）, 

to attract more audience in order to increase the audience rating of CATV.

Hosting a Variety of Events

By undertaking promotional events for Chinese government agencies and 

companies in the UAE, CATV has deepened its partnership with UAE government 

agencies, business institutions and social organizations. In 2017, CATV hosted 

a number of major events in Dubai, such as “Global Overseas Chinese Spring 

Gala Dubai – Love for My Motherland”（全球海外華人杜拜春晚－祖國之戀）, 

“Chinese Film Premiere of True Love in Dubai”（中國電影《真愛》杜拜展映會）

and Chinese film road shows. CATV also intends to host the Top Chinese Brand Summit（中國品牌高峰論壇）in 2018, in an 

attempt to promote CATV as a brand for hosting annual events and its influence in the Middle Eastern market.
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Development Direction

CATV will enter a fresh development stage in 2018 where keeps enriching the program contents, enhancing market 

collaborations and delivering its image as mainstream media. With growing influence, CATV will embrace more opportunities 

in resource integration, market collaboration and advertising investment.

As part of its efforts in resource integration, CATV intends to establish 

strategic cooperation with Chinese mainstream media, while building 

its connection to pan-Arab media alliance, all in a bid to realize 

comprehensive cooperation between Chinese and Arab mainstream 

media. Apart from that, CATV will work with renowned institutions to 

facilitate the cultural exchange between China and Arab countries 

and improve the reputation of CATV. By leveraging its cooperation with 

multinational corporations, CATV gathers media coverage on them in 

long term, with an aim to building business relationship with them 

step by step. In addition, CATV provides special promotion videos and 

customized promotion services for governments and companies, which 

will bring more business opportunities.

“Internet Plus” Business

Liangzi Gang（量子港） 

Liangzi Gang is a digital economic exchange platform of V1 Group. The platform applies the blockchain technology to record 

every session of commodity transaction, forming scale effect and creating a “professional, honest, innovative and efficient” 

online trading platform.

The Liangzi Gang team is experienced in the internet, finance and professional supply chain management industries, with 

product design, risk control and enterprise management capabilities. The goal of Liangzi Gang is to establish cooperation 

with more than 150 countries around the world, including the G20 countries, the countries along the Belt and Road, and 

APEC countries based on “digital+”, focusing on providing competitive supply chain solutions, products and services to 

various enterprises, customers, value-added service providers, shops and their consumers, and thus building a borderless, 

shared and win-win business community. At present, Liangzi Gang has established partnerships with many state-owned 

telecommunications companies and communication equipment manufacturing companies.
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Quick To

Along with the emergence of “sharing economy”, Quick To, being a sub-brand under V1 Group, rapidly developed the 

bicycle-sharing business which was regarded as one of the “ new four great inventions” in the PRC.

The business development of Quick To went well in the beginning, especially the self-developed technical platform and the 

standard operation team received positive reviews from local governments. However, the bicycle-sharing market in the first 

and second tier cities is becoming saturated. But new competitors still continued to raise fund and put on the market blindly, 

resulting in a serious influence on the business model of bicycle-sharing.

With the disordered competition in the market, the government policies on the bicycle-sharing management become more 

rigorous. In August 2017, the Ministry of Transport and other government departments jointly issued the “Guiding Opinions 

on Encouraging and Regulating the Development of Bicycle Rental”（關於鼓勵及規範互聯網租賃自行車發展的指導意見）, 

which makes the existing business model do not work anymore. Therefore, the management of Quick To decided to stop its 

investment, and recognized non-cash impairment loss in respect of the related goodwill and bicycles based on prudential 

assessment of related business.

Homeincare（醫護到家）

As of 31 December 2017, Homeincare had covered more than 300 cities, including Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. Its 

services mainly consist of home nursing, rehabilitation, maternal and infant care and health management. Homeincare has 

certified nearly 41,000 registered nurse, more than 70% of whom are from Third-level Grade-A hospitals. As a home nursing 

platform with a relatively large number of nurses and users in China, Homeincare will focus on the development of vertical 

integration in home nursing and healthcare.

However, the business is facing many challenges such as policy uncertainty of China’s internet medical reform, natural 

dependency of healthcare services on medical insurance and competitors’ efforts to expand market share after having raised 

large amount of funds. The management recognized non-cash impairment loss in respect of the related intangible assets 

based on prudential assessment.

• LOTTERY-RELATED BUSINESS

At present, the two websites, i.e. Zhongguozucaiwang（中國足彩網）(www.zgzcw.com) and Diyicai（第一彩）(www.diyicai.

com), in our lottery-related business only carry out lottery-related information publishing function.
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Business Prospect

In 2017, V1 Group’s management examined and judged the situation and according to the general trend of “Nationwide 

Entrepreneurship and Innovation” in the Chinese internet industry, laid out a forward-looking business road map for the 

Group’s future development.

V1 Group focuses on the culture, sports and games market with new culture and entertainment, which covers “new media”, 

“new culture” and “new sports”, as its core business, forming an infrastructure comprising “one TV station, one website 

and three applications” and cloud platforms; the online trading platform which applies the blockchain technology centering 

on Liangzi Gang and the internet plus business is in line with the general trend of Belt and Road initiative and “Nationwide 

Entrepreneurship and Innovation” of China. We believe that V1 Group will make another miracle and build a brilliant future for 

development as all our business lines are foresighted and of huge market potential.

AWARDS

MAJOR AWARDS IN 2017

No. Name of Award Presented by

1. V1 Portal won the “Most Innovative Enterprises  

with the Highest Investment Value Award” 

（中國最具投資價值創新企業獎）

Global CEO Innovation Summit

2. V1 Portal won the “Live-broadcast Marketing Bronze Prize” 

（直播行銷銅獎）

The Ninth Golden Internet Award in 2017

3. V1 Portal won the “NBI Influential Media Award” 

（NBI影響力媒體獎）

2017 NBI Influence Contest

4. Tower platform won the “Highest Growth Value Award in Fintech  

in 2017”（二零一七年度金融科技最具成長價值獎）

The Sixth China FinTech Summit

5. Tower platform won the “Top-10 Financial Product Innovation 

Award”（十佳金融產品創新獎）

The Sixth China Forex Expo of 2017

6. Tower platform won the “China Best Financial Video Award” 

（中國最佳財經視訊獎）

China Short Video Conference

4

5
2

1

6

3
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Tele-media Lottery-related
business business Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue from external customers 510,626 154,121 – – 510,626 154,121
   

Reportable segment loss (297,315) (465,994) (18,251) (491,630) (315,566) (957,624)
   

TELE-MEDIA BUSINESS

The tele-media business segment contributed a turnover of HK$510,626,000 to the Group for the year ended 31 December 

2017, representing an increase of around 231.3% as compared with the corresponding period in 2016, which was primarily 

due to the new online trading platform, Liangzi Gang, launched in September 2017. The new platform has received 

overwhelming demand from customers since the platform was launched.

Segment loss was HK$297,315,000 for the year (2016: HK$465,994,000). The significant decrease in segment loss was 

mainly attributable to the absence of one-off impairment loss recorded last year as a result of the suspension of the lottery-

related business, which was partially offset by the adverse effect of the non-cash impairment of web games and games 

engines after the termination of the web game operation, the non-cash impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, 

plant and equipment of Quick To and Homeincare businesses for the reasons as described in the management discussion 

section which amounted to HK$101,941,000, and the cost incurred for the development of new internet plus businesses.

LOTTERY-RELATED BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, segment loss was HK$18,251,000 as compared with a segment loss of 

HK$491,630,000 last year. The significant decrease in segment loss was mainly due to the absence of one-off impairment 

loss recorded last year. The Group’s lottery-related business currently only carries out lottery-related information publish 

function. Segment loss represented the maintenance costs for the information platforms.



 

V1 GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 57

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had HK$451,771,000 cash and cash equivalents (31 December 2016: 

HK$745,535,000). Working capital was HK$374,011,000 as compared with the working capital of HK$1,056,877,000 at the 

end of last year. Since the Group generates most of the revenue and incurs most of the costs in Renminbi, there is no material 

foreign exchange risk. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s current ratio was 2.8 (31 December 2016: 8.8). The decrease 

in current ratio was mainly due to the strategic investment in Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited and investing in other long term 

financial assets. Taking into account the financial resources available, the Directors are of the view that the Group will have 

sufficient working capital for its present requirement.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2017, the total assets of the Group amounted to HK$1,725,910,000 (2016: HK$1,991,972,000) which 

were mainly financed by shareholders’ fund of HK$1,496,258,000 (2016: HK$1,833,220,000). There was no change to the 

Group’s capital structure for the year and the number of the issued shares of the Company was 3,297,925,262 shares. The 

Group’s capital structure, as well as cash inflow, are therefore very healthy.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Except for the acquisitions of the equity interest in subsidiaries as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial 

statements in this report, there was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 

2017.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 266 employees. They included the management team and the employees 

in administration, production and sales departments. The Group regularly reviews its professional team members and will 

expand its management team whenever necessary.

The Group remunerates the Directors and its staff primarily based on their contribution, responsibilities, qualification and 

experience. The Group has implemented staff stock option plans. The Group has granted options to the Directors and other 

employees to encourage them towards enhancing the value of the Group and to promote the long-term growth of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group offers training programs to employees to upgrade their skills and knowledge on a regular basis.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF V1 GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of V1 Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, 
the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Refer to notes 16 and 18 in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has goodwill of HK$102,702,000 and intangible assets of HK$386,325,000 respectively relating to one cash 
generating unit (“CGU”) tele-media business. The CGU incurred losses for the year ended 31 December 2017. This has 
increased the risk that the carrying values of goodwill and intangible assets may be impaired.

In the annual impairment review, management has concluded that the carrying amounts of HK$8,932,000 and 
HK$63,691,000 are required to be impaired in respect of the goodwill and intangible assets respectively. This conclusion 
was based on a value in use model that required significant management judgment with respect to the discount rate and 
underlying cash flows, in particular future revenue growth.

INDEPENDENT
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Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment included:

– Assessing the valuation methodology;

– Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based on our knowledge of the business and industry; and

– Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such as latest financial forecasts approved by the management and 

considering the reasonableness of these forecasts.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 

to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 

in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 

to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the 

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 

report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda 1981, and for no other purpose. We do 

not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 

control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.
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• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Choi Man On

Practising Certificate no. P02410

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Revenue 7 510,626 154,121

Cost of revenue (626,972) (299,941)
 

Gross loss (116,346) (145,820)

Other gains and losses 8 (17,881) 5,030

Selling and marketing expenses (32,469) (14,934)

Administrative expenses (108,941) (102,111)

Impairment of goodwill 16 (8,932) (334,791)

Impairment of intangible assets 18 (63,691) (332,077)

Impairment of amount due from an associate 31(c) – (52,549)

Impairment of interest in an associate 15 – (38,244)

Share of profits of associates 15 (23,440) 159
 

Loss before income tax 9 (371,700) (1,015,337)

Income tax credit 12(a) – 33,698
 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (371,700) (981,639)

Other comprehensive income

Items that maybe reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets 2,316 (1,778)

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 29,676 (51,480)
 

Other comprehensive income for the year 31,992 (53,258)
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (339,708) (1,034,897)
 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Company (366,304) (980,071)

Non-controlling interests (5,396) (1,568)
 

(371,700) (981,639)
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Company (336,844) (1,032,041)

Non-controlling interests (2,864) (2,856)
 

(339,708) (1,034,897)
 

LOSS PER SHARE

– Basic (HK cents) 13 (11.11) cents (29.72) cents
 

– Diluted (HK cents) 13 (11.11) cents (29.72) cents
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 16,429 16,305
Interests in associates 15 273,617 198
Goodwill 16 102,702 86,867
Intangible assets 18 386,325 468,008
Other financial assets 20 364,450 229,050

 
1,143,523 800,428

 
CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 19 63,560 44,511
Other financial assets 20 2,312 391,410
Amount due from an associate 31(c) 60,645 4,924
Amounts due from related companies 31(d) 4,099 5,164
Cash and cash equivalents 451,771 745,535

 
582,387 1,191,544

 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deposits received, other payables and accruals 21 37,599 11,864
Amount due to an associate 31(e) 379 391
Amounts due to related companies 31(e) 58,304 10,318
Tax payable 112,094 112,094

 
208,376 134,667

 
NET CURRENT ASSETS 374,011 1,056,877
  
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,517,534 1,857,305

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 22 – –

 
NET ASSETS 1,517,534 1,857,305

 
EQUITY
Share capital 23 32,979 32,979
Reserves 1,463,279 1,800,241

 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,496,258 1,833,220
Non-controlling interests 21,276 24,085

 
TOTAL EQUITY 1,517,534 1,857,305

 

Zhang Lijun Wang Chun
Director Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2017
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Other

reserves

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve

Retained 
profits/

(accumulated 
losses)

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
(note 23) (note 26 (a)) (note 26 (b)) (note 26(c)) (note 26(d)) (note 26(e))

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 32,979 1,488,282 (6,056) 1,059,408 7,382 59,562 223,675 20,183 2,885,415

Profit or loss – – – – – – (980,071) (1,568) (981,639)

Other comprehensive income – – (1,778) – – (50,192) – (1,288) (53,258)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (1,778) – – (50,192) (980,071) (2,856) (1,034,897)

Lapse of share options – – – – (324) – 324 – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – 5,785 5,785

Capital injection in a subsidiary – – – – – – (973) 973 –

Recognition of share-based payment expense – – – – 1,002 – – – 1,002

At 31 December 2016 32,979 1,488,282 (7,834) 1,059,408 8,060 9,370 (757,045) 24,085 1,857,305

Profit or loss – – – – – – (366,304) (5,396) (371,700)

Other comprehensive income – – 2,316 – – 27,144 – 2,532 31,992

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 2,316 – – 27,144 (366,304) (2,864) (339,708)

Lapse of share options (note 29(a)) – – – – (2,690) – 2,690 – –

Capital injection in a subsidiary (note 24) – – – – – – (55) 55 –

Recognition of share-based payment  

expense (note 29(b)) – – – – (63) – – – (63)

At 31 December 2017 32,979 1,488,282 (5,518) 1,059,408 5,307 36,514 (1,120,714) 21,276 1,517,534

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before income tax (371,700) (1,015,337)
 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,358 4,543

Amortisation of intangible assets 37,452 75,676

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 486

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 29,318 –

Impairment of goodwill 8,932 334,791

Impairment of intangible assets 63,691 332,077

Impairment of amount due from an associate – 52,549

Impairment of interest in an associate – 38,244

Share of losses/(profits) of associates 23,440 (159)

Share-based payment expenses in respect of:–

– granting of share options – 939

– granting shares of subsidiary (63) 63

Interest income (6,062) (5,193)

Realised fair value gain on other financial assets (6,291) –
 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (212,912) (181,321)

Decrease in inventories – 1,396

Decrease in trade receivables – 8,715

Increase in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (3,144) (30,039)

(Increase)/decrease in amount due from an associate (49,661) 3,741

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from related companies 1,396 (557)

Decrease in trade payables – (85)

Decrease in deposits received, other payables and accruals (2,939) (18,566)

Decrease in amount due to an associate (12,049) (10)

Increase in amounts due to related companies 36,970 2,585

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 9,264 832
 

Net cash used in operating activities (233,075) (213,309)
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (21,776) (4,575)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 34 583

Purchases of intangible assets (16,905) –

Decrease/(increase) in held-to-maturity investments 387,501 (387,501)

Purchase of available-for-sales financial assets (177,987) (229,231)

Investment in associates (241,622) –

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 25 (453) (14,756)

Interest received 6,062 5,193
 

Net cash used in investing activities (65,146) (630,287)
 

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (298,221) (843,596)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 745,535 1,591,389

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,457 (2,258)
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 451,771 745,535
  

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash 219,271 745,535

Short term deposits 232,500 –
 

Bank balances and cash equivalents 451,771 745,535
 

2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
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1. GENERAL

V1 Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. Its shares are listed on The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria 

Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda. Its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at Room 3506, 35th Floor, 

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen’s Road, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (thereafter referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in tele-media 

business, including internet audio-visual new media, online games, online trading platform and other internet plus 

businesses in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group provides internet information services through a series of service agreements (as defined in the Company’s 

circular dated 18 August 2006 and mentioned below) entered into among the Company, the Group’s associate – 

VODone Datamedia Technology Co., Ltd. (“TMD1”) and VODone Telemedia Co. Ltd. (“VODone Telemedia”) or its 

related company.

VODone (Beijing) Network Technology Limited （第一視頻（北京）網絡技術有限公司）, a company established in the 

PRC and a wholly owned subsidiary of VODone Telemedia, owns the domain name (www.v1.cn) and is licensed in the 

PRC to provide an audio/video transmission platform delivering a range of cross media telecommunications contents 

and valued added services to its customers. Dr. Zhang Lijun is a director of both VODone Telemedia and the Company 

and he has beneficial interests in both VODone Telemedia and the Company as at the end of reporting period.

Under the abovementioned arrangements, VODone Telemedia or its related company, as the holder of the business 

licenses, has established a normal commercial arrangement to outsource its various technical, contents, advertising 

and marketing and other support service with TMD1, for the latter to provide the exclusive business support and 

content services to VODone Telemedia or its related companies. The Group provides the support services to TMD1 

which can in turn fulfill its obligation as VODone Telemedia’s exclusive service provider.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)

(A) ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs – EFFECTIVE 1 JANUARY 2017

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Annual Improvements to  

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(B) NEW/REVISED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, 

but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Annual Improvements to  

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1, First-time adoption of Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards1

Annual Improvements to  

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and  

Joint Ventures1

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment  

Transactions1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to HKFRS 10  

and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate  

or Joint Venture3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 The amendments were originally intended to be effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 

effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the amendments continue to be permitted.

HKFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Debt 

instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual terms that give rise to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow 

characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash 

flow characteristics test are measured at FVTOCI if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold 

and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election 

at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and 

equity instruments are measured at FVTPL.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(B) NEW/REVISED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL 

replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities 

to better reflect their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities 

from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value 

attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless that 

would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for 

derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Based on the assessment so far, the Group considers that the initial application of HKFRS 9 will not have a 

significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The core principle of the framework is 

that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an 

amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and 

services. HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 

“Construction Contracts” and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change the current 

approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative 

disclosures related to revenue.

Based on the assessment so far, the Group considers that the initial application of HKFRS 15 will not have a 

significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(B) NEW/REVISED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(Continued)

Amendments HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to 
HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of performance obligations; application of 

principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and transition requirements.

Based on the assessment so far, the Group considers that the initial application of Amendments HKFRS 15 will 

not have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the date of the transaction for determining an exchange 

rate to use for transactions that involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency and the 

recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The Interpretations specifies that the date of the 

transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 

expense or income (or part thereof) is the date on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 

non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

HKFRS 16 – Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, 

introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all 

leases with a term of more 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 

16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset 

and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise 

depreciation of the right-of use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of 

the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash 

flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The 

measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to be made in optional 

periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or to exercise an option to 

terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases that 

are classified as operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 

in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 

account for those two types of leases differently.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(B) NEW/REVISED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 – Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of leases for a number of properties which 

are currently classified as operating leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected to lead 

to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the 

statement of profit or loss over the period of the lease. As disclosed in note 27, at 31 December 2017, the 

Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to HK$57,324,000 for 

properties under operating leases, the majority of which is payable either within 1 year or between 2 and 5 years 

after the reporting date. Some of these amounts may therefore need to be recognised as lease liabilities, with 

corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The Group will need to perform a more detailed 

analysis to determine the amounts of new assets and liabilities arising from operating lease commitments on 

adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking into account the applicability of the practical expedient and adjusting for any 

leases entered into or terminated between now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12, Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to 

reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.

Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately 

or together based on which approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall also 

assume the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all 

related information when making those examinations. If the entity determines it is probable that the tax authority 

will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity should measure current and deferred tax in line with its 

tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable, then the uncertainty in the determination of tax is reflected 

using either the “most likely amount” or the “expected value” approach, whichever better predicts the resolution 

of the uncertainty.

Except as described above, the Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other new and 

revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting 

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”).

(B) BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain financial 

instruments which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(C) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”), while the consolidated financial statements are 

presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which the directors considered it is more beneficial to the users of the 

financial statements. As the Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, 

the directors consider that it will be more appropriate to continuously adopt Hong Kong dollars as the Group’s 

and the Company’s presentation currency.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A) BUSINESS COMBINATION AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with unrealised profits are 

eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 

the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in 

profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as 

appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(A) BUSINESS COMBINATION AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities 

incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest 

in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised 

in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling 

interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate 

share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value 

unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed 

unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. 

Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise 

from new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition 

date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 

classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect 

the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-

controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 

and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and 

any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the 

subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 

disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 

interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling 

interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-

controlling interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(B) SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an 

investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable 

returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed 

whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 

loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 

receivable.

(C) ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a 

joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 

of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and 

thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the 

associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised 

unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised only to the 

extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses 

resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised 

losses provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where 

there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the 

investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are carried at cost less impairment 

losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received 

and receivable during the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(D) JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint control 

over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at least one other party. Joint control is assessed 

under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as either:

• Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to only the net assets of the joint arrangement; or

• Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint 

arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

• The structure of the joint arrangement;

• The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle;

• The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

• Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using 

the equity method – see note 4(C)).

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above the fair value of the Group’s share of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount 

of the investment in joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in a joint venture has 

been impaired the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-

financial assets.

The Group accounts for its interests in joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred rights and obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(E) GOODWILL

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred and the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of 

consideration paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising 

from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 

impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 

allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the 

basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or 

loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

(F) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 

repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which they 

are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(F) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual 

value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation 

method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The depreciation rates 

are as follows:

Leasehold improvements over the remaining terms of the lease but not exceeding 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 5-10 years 

Computer hardware and software 3-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-10 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s 

estimated recoverable amount (note 4(P)).

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale 

proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(G) LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over 

the term of the lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(H) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(i) Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets 

with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation 

expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of revenue.

Internet SNS assets Indefinite

Platform and domain names Indefinite

Purchased software and technology 10-15 years

License and platform 2-10 years

Distribution networks 7-10 years

Websites 10 years

Service contracts 3-10 years

Mobile games licenses 2-6 years

(ii) Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

• it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to be sold;

• adequate resources are available to complete the development;

• there is an intention to complete and sell the product;

• the Group is able to sell the product;

• sale of the product will generate future economic benefits; and

• expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(H) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(ii) Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs) 
(Continued)

Capitalised development costs are amortised over the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling 

the products developed. The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in 

administrative expenses.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria and expenditure on the research phase of 

internal projects are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts, irrespective 

of whether there is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset 

is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there is an indication that an asset may 

be impaired (note 4(P)).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the 

asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value 

and all other financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or 

sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame 

established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for trading 

if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded 

derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments or financial guarantee contracts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 

value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade 

debtors), and also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

they are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment 

losses.

Held-to-maturity investments

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 

that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any identified impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 

included in other categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried 

at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment 

losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments, which are recognised in profit or 

loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and 

whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by 

delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified impairment 

losses.

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any objective evidence that 

financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as 

a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event 

has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

• granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s financial difficulty;

• it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

For loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is 

impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 

of financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When any part of financial asset is 

determined as uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For available-for-sale financial assets

Where a decline in the fair value constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is 

removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss.

Any impairment losses on available-for-sale debt investments are subsequently reversed in profit or loss 

if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 

recognition of the impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment, any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is 

recognised in other comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment that is carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured 

as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss is 

not reversed.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were 

incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and 

financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs 

incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 

term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless 

they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 

recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 

designated as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative 

does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is 

prohibited.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the 

following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment 

that would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a 

different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their 

performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; 

or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 

value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or 

loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 

liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected 

life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation 

to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the 

criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 

cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole 

or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the 

consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the date the financial 

liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be 

reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability 

extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof 

extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(J) INVENTORIES

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 

comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value 

represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale.

(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for 

estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and excludes value added tax or other sales 

related taxes. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and 

costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follow:

(i) advertising income are recognised when services are performed in accordance with the terms of the 

contract.

(ii) service income are recognised when services are performed in accordance with the substance of the 

relevant agreement.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(K) REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

(iii) revenue from sales of goods is recognised on transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which is at the 

time of delivery and the title is passed to customer.

(iv) revenue from single player games and social games in mobile games business is recognised when the 

goods are delivered based on download of games or consumption of in-game premium features by mobile 

phone game players, or over the subscription period. The estimated net proceeds to be received from the 

mobile network operators and the third-party payment platforms for the sale of game points of the social 

games, using data generated from its internal system, is recorded as deferred revenue upon delivery of 

game points to mobile phone game players. Deferred revenue is recognised as social games revenue 

ratably over the estimated average playing period of the paying mobile phone game players, starting 

from the point in time when game points are delivered to the mobile phone game players. The difference 

between the estimated proceeds and the actual amounts confirmed by the mobile network operators, 

third-party payment platforms or mobile phone service providers is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income when billing confirmations are received by the Group.

(v) revenue from licensed games in mobile game business is recognised at the estimated net proceeds to 

be received from the third-party payment platforms and third party app stores for the sale of game points 

of the licensed games net of the amount to be shared with the third-party game developers, using data 

generated from its internal system, as licensed games revenues upon delivery of game points to mobile 

phone game players.

(vi) interest income are recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding 

and the effective interest rate applicable.

(L) INCOME TAXES

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or 

disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of reporting period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(L) INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for 

goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax 

liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 

is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other 

comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

(M) FOREIGN CURRENCY

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the 

transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end 

of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation 

of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences 

arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other comprehensive 

income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(M) FOREIGN CURRENCY (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency 

of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate 

significantly during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions 

took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end 

of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity as exchange fluctuation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 

Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the 

translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation 

concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as exchange fluctuation 

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the foreign exchange 

reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or 

loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 

operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 

prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange fluctuation 

reserve.

(N) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the 

services are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees in Hong Kong who 

are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ 

basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently 

administered funds. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the 

MPF Scheme. Prior to the MPF Scheme being effective, the Group did not have any pension arrangements for 

its employees.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(N) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Defined contribution retirement plan (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of central pension schemes operated by 

the local governments in the PRC and these subsidiaries make mandatory contributions to these central pension 

schemes to fund the employees’ retirement benefits. The retirement contributions paid by the PRC subsidiaries 

are based on certain percentages of the employees’ salaries cost in accordance with the relevant regulations 

in the PRC, and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. The Group discharges its retirement obligations upon 

payment of the retirement contributions to the central pension schemes operated by the local governments in 

the PRC.

(O) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Where share options are awarded to employees and others providing similar services, the fair value of the 

options at the date of grant is recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding increase 

in the employee share option reserve within equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into account 

by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end of each reporting period so that, 

ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 

eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all 

other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions are 

satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 

options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is also recognised in profit or loss over the 

remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees and others providing similar services, 

the fair value of goods or services received is recognised in profit or loss unless the goods or services qualify 

for recognition as assets. When the entity cannot estimate reliably the fair value of goods or services received, 

they are indirectly measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. A corresponding 

increase in equity is recognised. For cash-settled share based payments, a liability is recognised at the fair value 

of the goods or services received.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(P) IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine 

whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss 

previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

• property, plant and equipment;

• intangible assets with finite useful life;

• investments in subsidiaries and associates

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is 

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 

estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

(Q) CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets which 

require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost 

of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

those assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 

loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(R) GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that 

the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 

incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the 

expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the 

carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of 

the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(S) PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive 

obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that 

can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless 

the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(T) RELATED PARTIES

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or an 

entity related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(T) RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(A) CRITICAL JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company and 

its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the group entities, judgment is required to determine 

the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services and of the country whose competitive 

forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currencies of 

the group entities are determined based on management’s assessment of the economic environment in which 

the entities operate and the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

(B) KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

(i) Valuation of intangible assets and useful lives

The Group has made estimations and assumptions in relation to the potential future cash flows of 

identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations. This assessment involves 

estimations and assumptions relating to potential future revenues, appropriate discount rates and the 

useful lives of such assets. These estimations and assumptions impact the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income over the useful life of the intangible asset.

(ii) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value 

in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation 

requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit 

and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

(iii) Impairment of amount due from an associate

Management reviews the amount due from an associate for the objective evidence of impairment at least 

on a yearly basis. Significant financial difficulties of the associate, the probabilities that the associate will 

enter into bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are considered as objective evidence 

that the amount due is impaired. In determining this, management makes judgment as to whether 

there is observable data indicating that there has been significant change in the payment ability of the 

associate, or whether there have been significant changes with adverse effect in the technological, 

market, economic or legal environment in which the associate operates in.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers 

that are used to make strategic decisions.

The directors had determined that the Group has two reportable segments. The segments are managed separately as 

each business offers different products and services and requires different business strategies. The following summary 

describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

• Tele-media business – Provision of internet information services, including mini-video news portal and self-

produced original news commentary programs, mini-video news platform for the mobile clients, online games, 

online shows, other internet plus business; and online trading platform which applies the blockchain technology.

• Lottery-related business – Provision of lottery information services.

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices charged to external parties for similar order. Central 

revenue and expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are not included in the measure of the 

segments’ profit that is used by the chief operating decision-makers for assessment of segment performance.
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(A) BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Tele-media business Lottery-related business Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000 HK$‘000
   

Revenue from external  

customers 510,626 154,121 – – 510,626 154,121
   

Reportable segment loss (297,315) (465,994) (18,251) (491,630) (315,566) (957,624)
   

Interest income 108 34 – – 108 34

Impairment of property,  

plant and equipment 29,318 – – – 29,318 –

Impairment of intangible assets 63,691 84,094 – 247,983 63,691 332,077

Impairment of goodwill 8,932 178,315 – 156,476 8,932 334,791

Impairment of amount due  

from an associate – 14,687 – 37,862 – 52,549

Impairment of interest  

in an associate – 38,244 – – – 38,244

Depreciation and amortisation 45,810 42,371 – 37,848 45,810 80,219

Share-based payment (63) 63 – – (63) 63

Reportable segment assets 637,506 701,319 2,237 13,637 639,743 714,956

Additions to non-current assets 38,681 4,575 – – 38,681 4,575

Reportable segment liabilities 81,013 13,186 223 3,927 81,236 17,113
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(B) RECONCILIATION OF REPORTABLE SEGMENT LOSS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Loss before income tax credit

Reportable segment loss (315,566) (957,624)

Other gains and losses 11,750 5,521

Share of profits of associates (23,440) –

Unallocated expenses:

– Advertising expenses – (29,517)

– Share-based payment expenses – (939)

– Staff costs (23,890) (12,874)

– Others (20,554) (19,904)
 

Consolidated loss before income tax credit (371,700) (1,015,337)
 

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Assets

Reportable segment assets 639,743 714,956

Other financial assets 366,762 620,460

Interests in associates 273,617 198

Cash at banks 441,673 650,430

Unallocated corporate assets 4,115 5,928
 

Consolidated total assets 1,725,910 1,991,972
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(B) RECONCILIATION OF REPORTABLE SEGMENT LOSS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
(Continued)

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities 81,236 17,113

Deposits received, other payables and accruals 11,443 5,460

Tax provision for gain on disposal of subsidiaries 112,094 112,094

Unallocated corporate liabilities 3,603 –
 

Consolidated total liabilities 208,376 134,667
 

(C) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During 2017 and 2016, over 90% of the Group’s revenue is attributable to customers in the PRC and over 90% 

of the Group’s total non-current assets are located in the PRC and the remaining non-current assets are located 

in Hong Kong and Dubai.

(D) MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from two customers (2016: one customer) of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the 

total sales of the Group are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

TMD1 (note) 156,004 153,204

Customer A 108,881 N/A
 

Note:

The Group’s associate is a major customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues. For the 

year ended 31 December 2017, revenue from the Group’s associate amounted to approximately HK$156,004,000 in the 

tele-media segment. For the year ended 31 December 2016, revenue from the Group’s associate amounted to approximately 

HK$153,204,000 in the tele-media segment. 
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7. REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods 

returned and trade discounts, and service fees earned. An analysis of turnover and revenue is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Tele-media business:

– advertising and service income, sales of internet games  

products and e-commerce trading income 510,626 154,121
 

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Realised fair value gain on other financial assets 6,291 –

Interest income 6,062 5,193

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (13) (486)

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (280) 235

Others (623) 88

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (29,318) –
 

(17,881) 5,030
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9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration (note 10))

Salaries and wages 44,523 30,464

Pension fund contributions 6,378 5,172

Share-based payments (63) 620
 

50,838 36,256
 

Carrying amount of inventories sold 347,094 1,310

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,358 4,543

Impairment of goodwill 8,932 334,791

Impairment of intangible assets 63,691 332,077

Impairment of amount due from an associate – 52,549

Impairment of interest in an associate – 38,244

Amortisation of intangible assets included in

– Cost of revenue 31,914 70,002

– Administrative expenses 5,538 5,674

Auditor’s remuneration

– Audit service 1,240 1,260

– Non-audit service 88 85
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Directors’ fees

Executive directors 14,407 9,876

Independent non-executive directors 873 686

Basic remuneration, allowances and benefits in kind 2,368 2,276

Pension fund contributions 36 36

Share-based payments – 382
 

17,684 13,256
 

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed as follows:

Directors’ fees

Basic 

remuneration, 

allowances and 

benefits in kind

Share-based 

payments

Pension fund 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

2017

Executive directors

Zhang Lijun 10,443 1,138 – 18 11,599

Wang Chun 3,964 1,138 – 18 5,120

Ji Qiang* – 92 – – 92

Independent non-executive directors

Loke Yu, Alias Loke Hoi Lam 327 – – – 327

Wang Linan 273 – – – 273

Gong Zhankui 273 – – – 273
     

15,280 2,368 – 36 17,684
     

* Mr. Ji Qiang was appointed on 24 March 2017.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ fees

Basic 

remuneration, 

allowances and 

benefits in kind

Share-based 

payments

Pension fund 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Executive directors

Zhang Lijun 6,963 1,138 125 18 8,244

Wang Chun 2,913 1,138 125 18 4,194

Independent non-executive directors

Loke Yu, Alias Loke Hoi Lam 216 – 44 – 260

Wang Linan 162 – 44 – 206

Gong Zhankui 308 – 44 – 352

10,562 2,276 382 36 13,256

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the year (2016: 

Nil). In addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join, or upon 

joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office for the year (2016: Nil).
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2016: two) were directors of the Company whose 

emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) 

individuals are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Basic remuneration, allowances and benefits in kind 3,641 3,373

Share-based payments – 369

Pension fund contributions 36 18
 

3,677 3,760
 

Their emoluments are within the following bands:

2017 2016

No. of employees No. of employees
 

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3 3
 

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management (excluding the directors of the Company) were 

within the following bands:

2017 2016

No. of employees No. of employees
 

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 2
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Current tax

– Hong Kong profits tax for the year – –

– PRC income tax for the year – –
 

– –

Deferred taxation (note 22)

– attributable to the reversal of temporary differences – (33,698)
 

Income tax credit – (33,698)
 

No provision was made for Hong Kong profits tax as the Group had no assessable profits during the year.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the provision for PRC income tax of the 

subsidiaries of the Group is calculated based on the statutory tax rate of 25%, except for VODone Information 

Engineering Co., Ltd. (“TMD2”) which is recognised as a high-technology company according to PRC tax 

regulations and is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15%. No provision was made for PRC income tax as the 

Group had no assessable income during the year.

Arab Business TV FZ-LLC is incorporated as a free zone limited liability company in Dubai. Pursuant to the 

income tax rules and regulations in Dubai, it is exempted from income tax for a period of 50 years.
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(b) The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Loss before income tax (371,700) (1,015,337)
 

Taxation calculated at PRC income tax of 25% (2016: 25%) (92,925) (253,834)

Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,455) (2,934)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 18,480 155,786

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 52,725 41,062

Effect of lower tax rate applicable to subsidiaries as a  

result of preferential tax policy as described in (a) 9,385 1,270

Effect of tax exemption granted 4,099 1,385

Effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdictions 11,686 23,430

Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised (1,995) 137
 

Income tax credit for the year – (33,698)
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on 

the following data:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share (366,304) (980,071)
 

Number of shares

2017 2016

’000 ’000
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the  

purposes of basic loss per share 3,297,925 3,297,925

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

– share options – –
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the  

purposes of diluted loss per share 3,297,925 3,297,925
 

Loss per share

2017 2016

HK Cents HK Cents
 

– Basic (11.11) (29.72)
 

– Diluted (11.11) (29.72)
 

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 does not assume the exercise of the 

outstanding share options as they had an anti-dilutive effect on the loss per share calculation.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 

improvements Motor vehicles

Plant, 

Machinery and 

equipment

Computer 

hardware and 

software

Furniture, 

fixture, and 

office 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2016 18,138 9,729 42,903 28,163 2,981 101,914

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 207 1,936 – 431 2,574

Additions 979 2,818 555 13 210 4,575

Disposals (1,485) (550) (3,373) (6,313) (1,376) (13,097)

Exchange adjustments (1,077) (726) (2,601) (1,397) (131) (5,932)

At 31 December 2016 16,555 11,478 39,420 20,466 2,115 90,034

Acquisition of subsidiaries 190 – 17,563 22 – 17,775

Additions 126 278 21,343 – 29 21,776

Disposals – (88) (559) – (41) (688)

Exchange adjustments 1,175 850 2,829 1,724 110 6,688

At 31 December 2017 18,046 12,518 80,596 22,212 2,213 135,585
       
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment:

At 1 January 2016 17,910 6,315 37,464 23,010 1,514 86,213

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 2 16 – 4 22

Charge for the year 193 516 1,839 1,624 371 4,543

Disposals (1,485) (496) (3,057) (6,312) (678) (12,028)

Exchange adjustments (1,060) (409) (2,328) (1,144) (80) (5,021)

At 31 December 2016 15,558 5,928 33,934 17,178 1,131 73,729

Acquisition of subsidiaries 25 – 47 – – 72

Charge for the year 454 827 6,988 (391) 480 8,358

Disposals – (54) (551) – (36) (641)

Impairment (Note) – – 29,318 – – 29,318

Exchange adjustments 1,177 472 3,847 2,734 90 8,320

At 31 December 2017 17,214 7,173 73,583 19,521 1,665 119,156
       
Carrying amount:

At 31 December 2017 832 5,345 7,013 2,691 548 16,429
       

At 31 December 2016 997 5,550 5,486 3,288 984 16,305

Note:

Included in the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2017 was an amount of HK$29,318,000 representing 

bikes located in the PRC for the operation of bike-sharing business. These assets were either operating below normal capacity or 

becoming idle at that date. Management performed impairment assessment on these assets and fully impaired the carrying amount of 

HK$29,318,000 during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Share of net assets/(liabilities) 70,245 (15,540)

Goodwill 244,543 53,982
 

314,788 38,442

Less: impairment (41,171) (38,244)
 

273,617 198
 

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:–

Name of company
Form of 
business structure

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Percentage of 
ownership 
interests/

voting rights/
profit share Principal activity

VODone Datamedia Technology  
Co., Ltd. (“TMD1”)

Corporation PRC 49% Provision of tele-media 
business support and 
content services (Note 1)

北京迷你威網絡科技有限公司 Corporation PRC 49% Inactive (Note 1)

Rocs and Partners Limited Limited company BVI 30% Inactive

Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited (“BOA”) Limited company BVI 37.53% Provision of offshore internet 
banking services (Note 2)

Note 1: The acquisition of the associates was related to the Group’s tele-media services business (“Tele-media CGU”) in the PRC 

and the carrying amounts of interests in associates have been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of 

goodwill allocated to Tele-media CGU (TMD) (note 16).

Note 2: BOA was established to provide online banking services mainly for BVI companies. During the year, the Group completed 

the subscription of new shares of BOA and thereafter holds a 37.53% equity interest in BOA, please refer to note 20(d)(i) for 

further details.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information (material associate)

2017 2016

TMD1 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

As at 31 December

Current assets 148,844 70,226

Non-current assets 653 738

Current liabilities (183,956) (103,082)

Non-current liabilities – –
 

(34,459) (32,118)
 

Included in the above amounts are:

Bank balances and cash 99 301
 

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables) (183,956) (65,550)
 

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding other payables and provisions) – –
 

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 156,459 141,363
 

(Loss)/profit for the year (81) 398
 

Total comprehensive income (81) 398
 

Dividend received from associate – –
 

Included in the above amounts are:

Depreciation and amortisation 135 93
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Net liabilities of the associate (34,459) (32,118)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate 49% 49%

Goodwill 58,056 53,982
 

41,171 38,244

Less: impairment (41,171) (38,244)
 

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate – –
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

2017 2016

BOA HK$’000 HK$’000
 

As at 31 December

Current assets 221,692 –

Non-current assets 13,909 –

Current liabilities (6,829) –

Non-current liabilities – –
 

228,772 –
 

Included in the above amounts are:

Bank balances and cash 192,861 –
 

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables) (6,829) –
 

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding other payables and provisions) – –
 

Year ended 31 December

Revenue 1,127 –
 

Loss for the year (61,469) –
 

Total comprehensive income (61,469) –
 

Dividend received from associate – –
 

Included in the above amounts are:

Depreciation and amortisation 779 –
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Net assets of the associate 228,772 –

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate 37.53% –

Goodwill 184,670 –
 

270,528 –

Less: impairment – –
 

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate 270,528 –
 

Summarised financial information (immaterial associates)

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Year ended 31 December

Loss for the year (142) (73)
 

Total comprehensive income (142) (73)
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16. GOODWILL

HK$’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2016 446,057

Acquisition of subsidiaries 4,472

Exchange adjustments (28,871)

At 31 December 2016 421,658

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 25) 18,549

Exchange adjustments 31,482

At 31 December 2017 471,689

Accumulated impairment losses:

At 1 January 2016 –

Additions 334,791

At 31 December 2016 334,791

Additions 8,932

Exchange adjustments 25,264

At 31 December 2017 368,987

Carrying amount:

At 31 December 2017 102,702

At 31 December 2016 86,867

For the purpose of impairment testing, cost of goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU”) identified as 

follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Tele-media CGU (TMD) – PRC 98,230 82,395

Broadcasting TV CGU (CATV) – Dubai 4,472 4,472
 

102,702 86,867
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

TELE-MEDIA CGU (TMD)

The recoverable amounts of tele-media CGU (TMD) have been determined from value-in-use calculations based on 

cash flow projections from approved budgets covering a five-year period. Cash flow beyond the five-year period is 

extrapolated using an estimated average growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%), which does not exceed the long-term growth 

rate for tele-media industry in the PRC. Cash flows for the first five financial periods are based on expected sales 

orders estimated by management. Budgeted gross margin is determined based on the unit’s past performance and 

management’s expectations for the market development.

2017 2016
 

Operating margin –1% – 2% 0% – 14%

Discount rate 21.71% 18.50%

Growth rate within the five-year period 11% – 69% 20% – 73%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segment. The growth rate within the 

five-year period has been based on past experience.

BROADCASTING TV CGU (CATV)

The recoverable amounts of broadcasting TV CGU (CATV) have been determined from value-in-use calculations based 

on cash flow projections from approved budgets covering a five-year period. Cash flow beyond the five-year period is 

extrapolated using an estimated average growth rate of 3% (2016: 3%), which does not exceed the long-term growth 

rate for broadcasting TV industry in the PRC. Cash flows for the first five financial periods are based on expected sales 

orders estimated by management. Budgeted gross margin is determined based on the unit’s past performance and 

management’s expectations for the market development.

2017 2016
 

Operating margin –24% – 23% 0% – 36%

Discount rate 27.31% 24.22%

Growth rate within the five-year period 10% – 66% 20% – 285%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segment. The growth rate within the 

five-year period has been based on past experience.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Place of 
operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary/

registered and paid 
up capital

Attributable equity 
interest held 

by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

第一視頻信息工程有限公司(VODone 

Information Engineering Co, Ltd.) 

(“TMD2”) (note)

PRC PRC RMB360,500,000 44.38% 55.48% Provision of technical 

and promotional and 

advertising services

北京日升影響廣告有限公司 

(Beijing Adpeople International 

Advertising Co, Ltd.) (“TMD3”) (note)

PRC PRC RMB208,000,000 – 100% Provision of advertisement 

production services

北京互聯時代娛樂文化發展有限公司 

(Beijing Union Times Entertainment  

Culture Development Co, Ltd.)  

(“TMD4”) (note)

PRC PRC RMB139,306,800 71.78% 27.79% Provision of entertainment 

production services

第一視頻（中國）投資有限公司 (note) PRC PRC USD100,000,000

(registered)/

USD29,300,000

(paid up)

100% – Investment holding

Arab Business TV FZ-LLC (“ABTV”) Dubai Dubai AED2,500,000 – 70.61% Operation of television 

channel

Note: The companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Internet 
SNS assets

Platform and 
domain

Purchased 
software and 

technology
License and 

platform
Distribution 

networks Websites
Service 

contracts Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c)) (note (d)) (note (e)) (note (f)) (note (g))

Cost:
At 1 January 2016 59,500 326,352 578,461 23,385 17,425 15,110 193,202 1,213,435
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 25) – – – 18,401 – – – 18,401
Written-off – – – – (17,425) – – (17,425)
Exchange difference – (6,750) (25) – – (978) (12,505) (20,258)

At 31 December 2016 59,500 319,602 578,436 41,786 – 14,132 180,697 1,194,153
Additions – – – 16,905 – – – 16,905
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 25) – – – 166 – – – 166
Exchange difference – 7,361 28 141 – 1,066 13,636 22,232

At 31 December 2017 59,500 326,963 578,464 58,998 – 15,198 194,333 1,233,456

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1 January 2016 – 86,941 152,133 5,947 17,425 7,555 72,296 342,297
Amortisation for the year – – 42,347 2,796 – 1,476 29,057 75,676
Written-off – – – – (17,425) – – (17,425)
Impairment – 202,757 38,416 – – 5,653 85,251 332,077
Exchange difference – – (21) – – (552) (5,907) (6,480)

At 31 December 2016 – 289,698 232,875 8,743 – 14,132 180,697 726,145
Amortisation for the year – – 33,420 4,032 – – – 37,452
Impairment – – 33,713 29,978 – – – 63,691
Exchange difference – 5,104 27 10 – 1,066 13,636 19,843

At 31 December 2017 – 294,802 300,035 42,763 – 15,198 194,333 847,131

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2017 59,500 32,161 278,429 16,235 – – – 386,325
         
At 31 December 2016 59,500 29,904 345,561 33,043 – – – 468,008

Notes:

(a) Internet social networking service assets (“Internet SNS Assets”) included all the rights of Domouse in relation to the Domain 

Names, all the rights to the Domouse Software and Domouse Database, the Domouse Message Management Platform and any 

relevant intellectual property rights, with an indefinite useful life. As the economic benefits arising from the Domouse Assets 

are totally integrated with the existing operating segments of the Group, its carrying amount has been taken into consideration 

for the impairment assessment of goodwill allocated to Tele-media CGU (TMD) (note 16).
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Platform and domain names included the following intangible assets:–

(i) MiniV.tv Assets, a software application of a website, with an indefinite useful life. As the economic benefits arising from 

the miniV.tv Assets are totally integrated with the existing operating segments of the Group, its carrying amount has 

been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of goodwill allocated to Tele-media CGU (TMD) (note 16).

(ii) An intellectual property right of a shopping website, with indefinite useful life. Due to the keen competition in the 

internet shopping market and the adverse change in economic environment including the depreciation of RMB and 

increased operating costs, the Company terminated such shopping website and its carrying amount had been fully 

impaired in 2015.

(iii) A software application system for lottery platform used in smartphone and an intellectual property right of the lottery 

website, with an definite useful life. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the management is of the opinion that 

the possibility for the Group to resume its lottery-related business is remote. Hence, its carrying amount has been fully 

impaired.

(c) Purchased software and technology included software, administrative systems and software technology as follows:

(i) Computer software and system applied on a number of paperless lottery platforms, with estimated useful lives of ten 

years. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the management is of the opinion that the possibility for the Group 

to resume its lottery-related business is remote. Hence, its carrying amount has been fully impaired.

(ii) E-commerce platform system and two software for live broadcasting on website, and video sharing used in smart 

phones, with estimated useful life of fifteen years with carrying amounts of HK$193,285,000 (2016:HK$212,910,000).

Among these intangible assets, the software for live broadcasting on website was acquired for the establishment of 

broadcasting studios for general, financial as well as entertainment news, which are for the purpose of conducting 

authorized businesses under the Network Audio-Video Broadcast License （網路視聽播放許可證） issued by the 

State Administration of Radio Film and Television and the Internet Commercial Performances License （互聯網經營

性演出許可證） issued by the Ministry of Culture of the PRC. The software for video sharing used in smart phones is 

mainly for enabling upload of video contents and connection play on users’ own handsets, offering the quickest way for 

users to upload their latest video contents with minimum streaming resources so as to increase the website traffic.

In addition, an information website computer system with estimated useful life of ten years and carrying amount of 

HK$28,384,000, was acquired to add more functions to the portal and improve user stickiness.

A medical related service platform and application system with estimated useful life of ten years and carrying amount 

of HK$33,713,000 (2016:HK$36,306,000) were acquired to provide internet medical services to customers. The 

management has the plan to terminate the operation of the medical related service platform. Hence, its carrying 

amount has been fully impaired.

The e-commerce platform system has been fully impaired after the termination of the shopping website in 2015. The 

medical related service platform is fully impaired during the year since the management has the plan to terminate the 

operation of the medical related service platform. The remaining abovementioned intangible assets have been tested 

for impairment and there is no indication that they need to be impaired.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

(iii) A web-based application which provides a web platform for end users to upload and watch videos through internet 
browser using 4G technology with a carrying amount of HK$62,298,000.

As the economic benefits arising from this asset are totally integrated with the existing operating segments of the 
Group, its carrying amount has been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of goodwill allocated to 
Tele-media CGU (TMD) (note 16).

(d) The balances include a set of web games and game engines with carrying amount of HK$13,073,000. The carrying amount of 
web games and game engines is fully impaired during the year after the termination of the web games operation in July 2017.

On June 2017, the company purchased a medical related service license to enhance its provision of internet medical services 
to customers. As at 31 December 2017, the management has the plan to terminate the operation of the medical related 
service platform. Hence, its carrying amount of HK$16,905,000 has been fully impaired.

The broadcasting TV license acquired through acquisition of CATV Group Limited and its subsidiaries during 2016, with 
estimated useful life of ten years are tested for impairment of Broadcasting TV CGU (CATV) (note 16) and there is no indication 
that it needs to be impaired.

(e) Following the disposal of a distribution network system in 2016, all the distribution networks intangible assets were disposed of 
accordingly.

(f) The websites acquired through acquisition of Pinzheng Group, with estimated useful life of ten years. During the year ended 
31 December 2016, the management is of the opinion that the possibility for the Group to resume its lottery-related business 
is remote. Hence, its carrying amount has been fully impaired.

(g) Service contract represented an 8-year sport lottery sales contract dated 24 September 2011 entered with Qinghai Province 
Sports Lottery Administration Centre, where the Group has the right to perform sport lottery sales through mobile and internet 
in Qinghai Province.

In 2013, the Group acquired another service contract though acquisition of Victor Choice Group. It represented a 10-year 
sports lottery sales contract dated 6 June 2013 entered with Hebei Province Sports Lottery Administration Centre, where the 
Group has the right to perform sport lottery sales through mobile and internet in Hebei Province.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the management is of the opinion that the possibility for the Group to resume 
its lottery-related business is remote. Hence, the carrying amounts of the abovementioned service contracts have been fully 
impaired.

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Current
Other receivables 29,917 15,786
Prepayments 28,758 23,616
Deposits 4,885 5,109

 
63,560 44,511
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20. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Current portion:–

Available-for-sale financial assets:–

– Compensation arising from profit guarantee  

arrangement of 3GUU Group (note (a)) 2,312 3,909

Held-to-maturity investments:

– Certificates of deposit (note (b)) – 387,501
 

2,312 391,410
 

Non-current portion:–

Available-for-sale financial assets:–

– Investment funds (note (c)) 356,764 182,550

– Unlisted (note (d)) 7,686 46,500
 

364,450 229,050
 

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the profit guarantee arrangement in relation to the acquisition of 3GUU Group, the Company is entitled to recover 

the related consideration shares at no cost as the actual result of 3GUU Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 was 

less than the relevant profit target. The Company has decided not to recall the consideration shares and asked the vendors to 

dispose of the related shares to settle the compensation in cash. Compensation is determined on the agreed number of shares 

to be disposed of at their fair value at the end of reporting period. The compensation is classified as available-for-sale financial 

asset in the consolidated statement of financial position. It is carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the 

other comprehensive income.

(b) In 2016, the Group’s held-to-maturity investments represent certificates of deposit that are issued by commercial banks with 

original maturities over three months, carried at the fixed interest rates ranging from 1.58% to 1.75% per annum and was 

expired in July 2017. The Directors classified the investments as held-to-maturity investments as the Directors intend to hold 

the investments to maturity.
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20. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) The investment funds are as follows:

(i) On 14 December 2015, the Company entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement (the “Agreement”) to subscribe, 

as a limited partner, in the total amount of US$31,250,000 (equivalent to HK$242,266,000) of China Prosperity 

Capital Mobile Internet Fund, L.P. (the “Mobile Internet Fund”). The timing of capital contribution of the investment is 

generally on an “as needed” basis.

This Mobile Internet Fund was established principally to achieve long-term capital appreciation primarily through 

privately-negotiated investments in equity and/or equity-related securities of companies that operate in or otherwise 

derive significant business opportunities from the mobile internet sector, its related technologies, products and 

services. The Group is a limited partner in this Mobile Internet Fund and does not have control nor significant influence 

in the this Mobile Internet Fund’s operational and financing decisions. The Directors classified the investment as an 

available-for-sales financial asset carried at cost as it is linked to different unquoted equity instruments and there has 

no active market for determining its fair value as at year end.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group have invested US$24,453,153 (equivalent to HK$189,512,000) (2016: 

HK$116,856,000) to the Mobile Internet Fund.

(ii) In 2016, the Group invested in the CICC Global Jinpu Selective Fund (Class B) issued by the China International 

Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, in the total amount of US$8,500,000 (equivalent to 

HK$65,875,000). The compensation is classified as available-for-sale financial asset in the consolidated statement of 

financial position. It is carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the other comprehensive income. In 

2017, a gain of HK$3,913,000 (2016: loss of HK$181,000) was recognised in the other comprehensive income.

(iii) On 23 February 2017, the Company entered into a limited partnership agreement to subscribe, as a limited partner, in 

the total amount of US$6,500,000 (equivalent to HK$50,375,000) of Golden Rock Cayman LP (the “Golden Rock”). 

The fund was established principally to achieve long-term capital appreciation primarily through privately-negotiated 

investments in securities and/or equity of companies that operate in internet related sectors. The Group is a limited 

partner in Golden Rock and does not have control nor significant influence in its operational and financing decisions. 

The Directors classified the investment as an available-for-sales financial asset carried at cost as it linked to different 

unquoted equity instruments and there has no active market for determining its fair value as at period ended.
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20. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

(iv) On 1 August 2017, the Company entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement (the “Agreement”) to subscribe, as 

a limited partner, in the total amount of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$120,099,000) of Hangzhou Jieqiao 

Investment Management Partnership (the “Hangzhou Jieqiao Fund”). The timing of capital contribution of the 

investment is generally on an “as needed” basis.

Hangzhou Jieqiao Fund is an established in the PRC and is principally engaged in asset management and investment 

management. It is established to achieve long-term capital appreciation primarily through privately-negotiated 

investments in internet, artificial intelligence and medical and health care industries. The Group is a limited partner 

in this Hangzhou Jieqiao Fund and does not have control nor significant influence in the Hangzhou Jieqiao Fund’s 

operational and financing decisions. The Directors classified the investment as an available-for-sales financial asset 

carried at cost as it is linked to different unquoted equity instruments and there has no active market for determining 

its fair value as at year end. At the end of the reporting period, the Group have invested RMB39,608,000 (equivalent to 

HKD47,270,000) to the investment fund.

(d) The unlisted equity investments are as follows:

(i) As at 31 December 2016, the Group held a strategic investment in 9.99% interest in Bank of Asia (BVI) Limited 

(“BOA”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Island. The investment is classified as available-for-sale financial 

asset as the Group does not have the power to control or significant influence on the investee. As at 31 December 

2016, it is stated at cost as there has no active market for determining its fair value as at year end.

On 21 April 2017, the Group completed the subscription of 50,190,323 new shares of BOA (the “Subscription”), 

representing 30.7% of the total issued shares of BOA as enlarged by the Subscription, at a consideration of 

US$30,800,000 (equivalent to HK$238,700,000). After the Subscription, the Group holds 37.53% interest in BOA and 

has the power to exercise significant influence on BOA. The interest in BOA is recognised as an interest in an associate 

and equity accounted for after the Subscription.

(ii) On 28 February 2017, the Group invested in 10% equity interest in 杭州翼心信息科技有限公司(Hangzhou 

Yixin Information Technology Limited*), a company incorporated in the PRC, at a consideration of RMB6,400,000 

(equivalent to HK$7,686,000). The investment was classified as available-for-sale financial asset as the Group did not 

have the power to control or significant influence on the investee. As at 31 December 2017, it was stated at cost as 

there was no active market for determining its fair value as at period end.
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21. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Deposits received 17,185 21

Accruals 11,613 3,236

Dividend payable 4,586 4,483

Other payables 4,215 4,124
 

37,599 11,864
 

22. DEFERRED TAXATION

Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements during the year are as follows:

Fair value 

adjustments

HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 35,849

Credit to profit or loss for the year (4,018)

Impairment of intangible assets (29,680)

Exchange difference (2,151)

At 31 December 2016 and 2017 –

 

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised for the following:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

(Taxable)/deductible temporary differences (2,457) 137

Unused tax losses 191,495 135,144
 

189,038 135,281
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22. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Out of the tax losses of the Group as at 31 December 2017, approximately HK$122,530,000 (2016: HK$68,931,000) 

has an expiry period of five years since 2012. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax 

losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams. The deductible temporary differences can be carried forward 

indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign 

investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 

January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there 

is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate 

is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established 

in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. As at 31 December 2017, the Group has 

not recognised deferred tax liabilities of HK$Nil (2016: HK$2,136,000) in respect of temporary differences relating 

to the unremitted profits of subsidiaries amounting to HK$Nil (2016: HK$21,358,000), that would be payable on the 

distribution of these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it is probable 

that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

23. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Authorised:

50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 500,000 500,000
 

Issued and fully paid:

3,297,925,262 (2016: 3,297,925,262) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 32,979 32,979
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24. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

After the acquisition of CATV Group Limited (“CATV”) by the Group on 22 August 2016, CATV, being a 78.46% owned 

subsidiary of the Company, became the material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) of the Company. The NCI of all other 

subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to the NCI of CATV, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below:

1 January to 

31 December 

2017

22 August to 

31 December 

2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

For the period from

Revenue 2,303 472

Loss for the year 16,551 5,664

Total comprehensive income 14,488 5,639
 

Loss allocated to NCI 3,565 1,220
 

Dividend paid to NCI – –
 

For the period from

Cash flows used in operating activities (17,647) (9,089)

Cash flows used in investing activities (439) (338)

Cash flows from financing activities 15,000 –
 

Net Cash inflows (3,086) (9,427)
 

As at 31 December

Current assets 6,140 8,317

Non-current assets 18,657 20,587

Current liabilities (363) (1,269)

Non-current liabilities – –
 

Net assets 24,434 27,635
 

Accumulated non-controlling interests 6,152 6,483
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24. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

On 11 November 2017, the Group increased its ownership interests from 99.69% to 99.86% in TMD2 by the 

subscription of addition registered share capital at RMB200,000,000. The transaction has been accounted for as an 

equity transaction with the non-controlling interests as follows:

HK$’000
 

Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests before share subscription 501

Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests after share subscription 556
 

Decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company (included in retained earnings) 55
 

25. BUSINESS ACQUISITION

(A) 北京快兔動力資訊技術有限公司 (BEIJING QUICK TO POWER INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.*)

On 31 March 2017, the Company entered into share purchase agreement with (i) an independent third 

party; (ii) VODone Telemedia; and (iii) a related Company, 天津分享快樂科技合伙企業 (Tianjin Fenxiang 

Kuaile Technology Limited Partnership*), for the purchase of 40%, 15% and 45% interest in Beijing Quick To 

Power Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Quick To”) respectively at a total consideration of RMB4,750,000 

(equivalent to HK$5,705,000).

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

HK$’000
 

Property, plant and equipment 17,522

Deposits and other receivables 11,833

Bank balances and cash 11,649

Deposits received, other payables and accruals (9,163)

Amount due to an associate (26,421)

Amount due to related companies (8,647)
 

Total identified net liabilities (3,227)

Goodwill 8,932
 

Purchase consideration settled by cash 5,705
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25. BUSINESS ACQUISITION (Continued)

(A) 北京快兔動力資訊技術有限公司 (BEIJING QUICK TO POWER INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.*) (Continued)

Cash (inflow)/outflow arising from acquisition of a subsidiary:

HK$’000
 

Cash consideration 5,705

Bank balances and cash acquired (11,649)
 

Purchase consideration settled by cash (5,944)
 

Since the acquisition date, Quick To has contributed a revenue of HK$2,748,000 and a loss after tax of 

HK$50,910,000 to the Group during the year. If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2017, the 

Group’s revenue and loss after tax would have been HK$510,911,000 and HK$376,067,000 respectively. This 

pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results 

of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 

January 2017, nor is it intended to be a projection of further performance.

(B) 北京號外天下網路技術有限公司 (BEIJING HAOWAI TIANXIA ONLINE TECHNOLOGY 
CO. LIMITED*)

On 31 March 2017, the Company entered into share purchase agreement with (i) an independent third party; 

(ii) VODone Telemedia; and (iii) a related Company, 天津號外網絡科技合伙企業 (Tianjin Haowai Online 

Technology Limited Partnership*), for the purchase of 40%, 15% and 45% interest in Beijing Haowai Tianxia 

Online Technology Co. Limited* (“Beijing Haowai”) respectively at a total consideration of RMB5,500,000 

(equivalent to HK$6,605,000).
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25. BUSINESS ACQUISITION (Continued)

(B) 北京號外天下網路技術有限公司 (BEIJING HAOWAI TIANXIA ONLINE TECHNOLOGY 
CO. LIMITED*) (Continued)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquirees as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

HK$’000
 

Property, plant and equipment 181

Intangible assets 166

Deposits and other receivables 456

Bank balances and cash 208

Deposits received, other payables and accruals (60)

Amount due to an associate (3,963)
 

Total identified net liabilities (3,012)

Goodwill 9,617
 

Purchase consideration settled by cash 6,605
 

Cash (inflow)/outflow arising from acquisition of a subsidiary:

HK$’000
 

Cash consideration 6,605

Bank balances and cash acquired (208)
 

Purchase consideration settled by cash 6,397
 

Since the acquisition date, Beijing Haowai has contributed a revenue of HK$218,000 and a loss after tax of 

HK$620,000 to the Group during the year. If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2017, the 

Group’s revenue and loss after tax would have been HK$511,742,000 and HK$373,743,000 respectively. This 

pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results 

of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 

January 2017, nor is it intended to be a projection of further performance.
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26. RESERVES

COMPANY

Share 
premium

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserves

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve

Retained 
profits/

(accumulated 
losses)

Total 
reserves

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d))

Balance at 1 January 2016 1,488,282 (6,056) 523,125 7,382 (519,940) 1,492,793
Loss and total comprehensive  

income for the year – (1,778) – – (278,320) (280,098)
Recognition of share-based  

payment expense (note 29(a)) – – – 939 – 939
Lapse of share options (note 29(a)) – – – (324) 324 –

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,488,282 (7,834) 523,125 7,997 (797,936) 1,213,634
Loss and total comprehensive  

income for the year – 2,316 – – (120,379) (118,063)
Recognition of share-based  

payment expense (note 29(a)) – – – – – –
Lapse of share options (note 29(a)) – – – (2,690) 2,690 –

Balance at 31 December 2017 1,488,282 (5,518) 523,125 5,307 (915,625) 1,095,571

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(a) The balance represents the excess of consideration received for issue of shares over the corresponding par 

value of the issued shares. The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the 

Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended).

(b) Investment revaluation reserve represents change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

(c) The Group’s other reserves represent:–

(i) the difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 

of the shares of the subsidiary granted to employees; and

(ii) certain portion of the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC transferred from the 

retained earnings which are restricted to use pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.

The Company’s other reserve is derived from the difference between the fair value of the shares of the 

subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore pursuant 

to the group reorganisation in 1991. Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), a company may 

make distributions to its members out of its other reserves under certain circumstances.



For the year ended 31 December 2017

V1 GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 127

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. RESERVES (Continued)

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES (Continued)

(d) Share-based compensation reserve comprises the value of the unexercised share option granted by the 

Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 4(O).

(e) Exchange fluctuation reserve represents gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign operations 

into Hong Kong dollars.

27. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year 15,253 12,440
 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in 

respect of its premises falling due as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Within one year 19,159 12,648

In the second to fifth year, inclusive 38,165 7,530
 

57,324 20,178
 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group on certain of its leased properties. Leases are 

negotiated for an average term of one to five years at fixed rental.

28. COMMITMENTS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Contracted, but not provided for:

– Investment of investment fund (note 20(c)(i) and (iv)) 125,650 125,410
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(A) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY

On 27 April 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved a new share option scheme (the“V1 Group 

Scheme”) and adopted it on 30 April 2012, and terminated the share option scheme adopted on 7 June 2002 

(the “Old V1 Group Scheme”). Under the V1 Group Scheme, the directors may, at their discretion, invite any 

eligible participants to take up options to subscribe for shares in the capital of the Company.

The exercise price for the share options shall be determined in accordance with the V1 Group Scheme and the 

relevant provisions of the Listing Rules. The costs for the value of the grant of share options were recognised as 

an expense during the year.

The terms and conditions of the grants and movements in the number of share options under the V1 Group 

Scheme during the year were as follows:

2017

Number of shares issuable under share options
 

At
beginning

of the year

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year
At the end
of the year

Exercise
price Exercise period
HK$

       

Executive directors
Zhang Lijun

– on 17 April 2014 2,100,000 – – (2,100,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

7,100,000 – – (2,100,000) 5,000,000

Wang Chun
– on 17 April 2014 2,100,000 – – (2,100,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 5,700,000 – – – 5,700,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

9,800,000 – – (2,100,000) 7,700,000

Ji Qiang (note)
– on 17 April 2014 200,000 – – (200,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018

1,200,000 – – (200,000) 1,000,000

Sub-total 18,100,000 – – (4,400,000) 13,700,000
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Number of shares issuable under share options
 

At
beginning

of the year

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year
At the end
of the year

Exercise
price Exercise period
HK$

       

Independent non-executive directors
Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

– on 17 April 2014 400,000 – – (400,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 700,000 – – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

3,100,000 – – (400,000) 2,700,000

Wang Linan
– on 17 April 2014 300,000 – – (300,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 700,000 – – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

3,000,000 – – (300,000) 2,700,000

Gong Zhankui
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 700,000 – – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

2,700,000 – – – 2,700,000

Sub-total 8,800,000 – – (700,000) 8,100,000

Employees/others
– on 17 April 2014 14,900,000 – – (14,900,000) – 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 32,300,000 – – – 32,300,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 8,900,000 – – – 8,900,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

Sub-total 56,100,000 – – (14,900,000) 41,200,000

Total 83,000,000 – – (20,000,000) 63,000,000

Note:

Mr. Ji Qiang was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 24 March 2017. Accordingly, his share options are 

reclassified from the employees category to executive directors category.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(A) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2017
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(A) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2016

Number of shares issuable under share options
 

At
beginning

of the year

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year
At the end
of the year

Exercise
price Exercise period
HK$

       
Executive directors
Zhang Lijun

– on 9 September 2013 1,500,000 – – (1,500,000) – 0.604 09/09/2013 to 08/09/2016
– on 17 April 2014 2,100,000 – – – 2,100,000 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

6,600,000 2,000,000 – (1,500,000) 7,100,000

Wang Chun
– on 9 September 2013 1,500,000 – – (1,500,000) – 0.604 09/09/2013 to 08/09/2016
– on 17 April 2014 2,100,000 – – – 2,100,000 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 5,700,000 – – – 5,700,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

9,300,000 2,000,000 – (1,500,000) 9,800,000

Sub-total 15,900,000 4,000,000 – (3,000,000) 16,900,000
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Number of shares issuable under share options
 

At
beginning

of the year

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year
At the end
of the year

Exercise
price Exercise period
HK$

       
Independent non-executive directors
Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

– on 9 September 2013 400,000 – – (400,000) – 0.604 09/09/2013 to 08/09/2016
– on 17 April 2014 400,000 – – – 400,000 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 700,000 – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

2,800,000 700,000 – (400,000) 3,100,000

Wang Linan
– on 17 April 2014 300,000 – – – 300,000 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 700,000 – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

2,300,000 700,000 – – 3,000,000

Gong Zhankui
– on 16 October 2015 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 700,000 – – 700,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

2,000,000 700,000 – – 2,700,000

Sub-total 7,100,000 2,100,000 – (400,000) 8,800,000

Employees/others
– on 9 September 2013 800,000 – – (800,000) – 0.604 09/09/2013 to 08/09/2016
– on 17 April 2014 15,100,000 – – – 15,100,000 0.750 17/04/2014 to 16/04/2017
– on 16 October 2015 33,300,000 – – – 33,300,000 0.570 16/10/2015 to 15/10/2018
– on 2 September 2016 – 8,900,000 – – 8,900,000 0.371 02/09/2016 to 01/09/2019

Sub-total 49,200,000 8,900,000 – (800,000) 57,300,000

Total 72,200,000 15,000,000 – (4,200,000) 83,000,000

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(A) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2016
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(A) EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details and movements of share options are as follows:

Weighted average 

exercise price Number

’000

At 1 January 2016 HK$0.622 72,200

Granted during the year HK$0.371 15,000

Lapsed during the year HK$0.604 (4,200)

At 31 December 2016 HK$0.577 83,000

Lapsed during the year HK$0.750 (20,000)

At 31 December 2017 HK$0.523 63,000

The weighted average exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the year is HK$0.523 (2016: 

HK$0.577) and their weighted average remaining contractual life was 0.76 years (2016: 1.59 years).

Of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the year, all were exercisable at the end of the year.

No share options were exercised during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017.

In 2017, 20,000,000 (2016: 4,200,000) share options lapsed. Accordingly, the related share-based 

compensation reserve of HK$2,690,000 (2016: HK$324,000) was released to retained profits.

(B) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS MADE BY A SUBSIDIARY

Pursuant to the share purchase and subscription agreement for the acquisition of CATV, a profit guarantee is 

provided by the Mr. Liu Haijiang (the “Vendor”), who served as a key employee of the acquiree from the date of 

acquisition to 31 December 2018 (“the Employment Period”). If the profit target cannot be achieved, 6,923,290 

shares of CATV held by the Vendor will be transferred to the Company at zero consideration. In accordance 

with HKFRS 3, it is treated as a separate transaction from the business combination. Once the profit target is 

achieved, 6,923,290 shares of the acquiree will be released to the Vendor by the Company.

In accordance with HKFRS 2, the fair value of the share-based compensation was determined based on the fair 

value of services to be provided by the Vendor during the Employment Period. The fair value of the share-based 

compensation was approximately HK$444,000 as at 31 December 2016. Balance of approximately HK$63,000 

was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2016. During the year, the abovementioned 

options were forfeited as the vendor ceased to be a key employee of CATV upon his resignation. Hence, the 

share share-based compensation of approximately HK$63,000 recognised in 2016 is reversed during the year.
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

The following is the condensed statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and 31 

December 2016:

2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 913 1,196

Interests in subsidiaries 1,223,857 984,016

Intangible assets 337,929 420,317

Other financial assets 332,744 116,856
 

1,895,443 1,522,385
 

CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 3,091 4,695

Other financial assets 2,312 457,104

Amounts due from subsidiaries 712,695 459,311

Amount due from a related company 33 33

Bank balances and cash 371,851 650,374
 

1,089,982 1,571,517
 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deposits received, other payables and accruals 8,323 2,340

Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,836,098 1,836,098

Amount due to a related company 3,603 –

Dividend payable 3,103 3,103

Tax payable 5,748 5,748
 

1,856,875 1,847,289
 

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (766,893) (275,772)
  

NET ASSETS 1,128,550 1,246,613
  

EQUITY

Share capital 23 32,979 32,979

Reserves 26 1,095,571 1,213,634
 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,128,550 1,246,613
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered into the 

following material related party transactions during the year:

2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Service fee income earned from an associate, TMD1 (i) 156,004 153,204
 

Management fee charged by TMD1 (ii) 231,825 218,544
 

(i) Service fee income was charged in accordance with the terms and conditions of the exclusive technology 

support and services agreements entered with TMD1 dated 29 April 2006.

(ii) Under the service agreements as mentioned in note 1, the Company, TMD1 and VODone Telemedia 

entered into an arrangement in which the subsidiaries of VODone Telemedia provides management 

services to the Group in order to assist the Group in providing the internet information services. The fee 

was charged at cost basis and terms agreed between the related parties.

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Short term benefits 20,111 14,987

Share-based payments – 626
 

20,111 15,613
 

(c) The amount due from an associate mainly arising from the trading transaction detailed in note (a)(i) above are 

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Impairment of HK$52,549,000 was made in 2016 against the principal amounts.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Amounts due from related companies, which is disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Details of the balances with the related companies are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Balance at 1 January 5,164 4,984

Balance at 31 December 4,099 5,164
 

Maximum amount outstanding during the year 5,164 5,164
 

The amounts due from the related companies are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on trading terms.

There was no amount due but unpaid, nor any allowance for doubtful debts made against the principal amounts 

at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

(e) The amounts due to an associate and related companies are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on 

demand.

32. MATERIAL INTEREST OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENTS 
OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company was a party and in which the 

directors of the Company or an entity connected with the directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.
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33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives of managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 

reduce cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company only, comprising share 

capital and reserves.

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Total equity 1,517,534 1,857,305
 

Gearing ratio N/A N/A
 

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. These 

risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below.

CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its other receivables and amounts due from related companies and 

associates arising from trade transactions. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit 

risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of third party accounts and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers 

requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments 

when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customers as well as pertaining 

to the economic environment in which the customers operate. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial 

condition of accounts receivable. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The directors consider that the credit risk arising from related party trading transactions is minimal. Based on past 

experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of amounts due from 

associates as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still fully recoverable.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy are to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants and to 

ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

At the end of reporting period, all the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual 

undiscounted cash flows are within one year or on demand.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s bank deposits have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market 

interest rate on bank deposits. The directors consider the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank deposits to interest 

rate risk is not significant as interest bearing bank deposits have short maturity periods. The Group’s held-to-maturity 

investments carry at fixed interest rate and therefore are not subject to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group has no significant interest-bearing financial liabilities. Accordingly, management considers the Group has no 

significant cash flow interest rate risk from financial liabilities.

The Group does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, management monitors interest rate exposures and 

will consider hedging significant interest rate exposures should the need arise.

CURRENCY RISK

Most of the subsidiaries’ functional currency is RMB since majority of the revenue of the Group are derived from 

operations in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign 

Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, 

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange 

business. Other than the above, the Group does not have significant exposure to risk resulting from changes in foreign 

currency exchange rates.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

The Group has no significant equity price risk as at 31 December 2017.
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY 
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2017 and 

2016 may be categorised as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 551,317 776,518

Available-for-sale financial assets 366,762 232,959

Held-to-maturity investments – 387,501
 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 79,097 22,552
 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY 
CATEGORY (Continued)

2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Available-for-sale financial assets 71,919 – –
   

2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale financial assets 69,603 – –

There were no transfers between levels during the period.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 4 January 2018, the Company and Rising Green Limited entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement 

pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to acquire the entire issued shares of Easy Prime 

Developments Limited at a consideration of HK$630,000,000, which will be satisfied by cash and the issue of 

consideration shares and convertible bonds, as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 4 January 2018. After 

completion of the acquisition, the Company will gain effective control over the financing and operations and enjoy the 

economic interest and benefits of the 北京瘋狂體育產業管理有限公司 (Beijing Crazy Sports Management Company 

Limited*).

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 28 March 2018.

* for identification purposes only
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five 

financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements of the Group and reclassified as appropriate, is set out 

below:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)
 

RESULTS

Turnover 510,626 154,121 1,291,682 1,945,712 595,078

Profit/(loss) for the year (371,700) (981,639) 217,856 4,937 (165,806)
 

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (366,304) (980,071) 142,666 (131,590) (160,014)

Non-controlling interests (5,396) (1,568) 75,190 136,527 (5,792)
 

(371,700) (981,639) 217,856 4,937 (165,806)
 

Note: The result of the year ended 31 December 2015 was presented on a combined basis of the Group from both continuing and 

discontinued operations.

As at 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets 1,143,523 800,428 1,373,835 2,555,141 2,241,042
 

Current assets 582,387 1,191,544 1,694,127 1,973,019 1,381,676

Current liabilities (208,376) (134,667) (146,698) (464,688) (335,200)
 

Net current assets 374,011 1,056,877 1,547,429 1,508,331 1,046,476
 

Non-current liabilities – – (35,849) (45,999) (49,624)
 

Net assets 1,517,534 1,857,305 2,885,415 4,017,473 3,237,894
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